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Our Mandate

Our mandate is to facilitate access to financing for market-based housing in First 
Nations communities. We help create the capacity in First Nations communities to 
support and sustain market-based housing programs, thereby contributing to the 
social welfare and civic improvement of First Nations communities and their residents. 
Our overarching goal is to promote a system in which First Nations residents have the 
same housing opportunities on communally held lands – be they reserve, settlement 
or lands set aside – as other Canadians have in communities across the country.

Our Vision

As we focus on increasing the opportunities for on-reserve market-
based home ownership, our vision is that: Every First Nation family has the 
opportunity to have a home on their own land in a strong community.



Bella Coola, Nuxalk Nation



Message from the Chairperson of the Trustees
Moving Forward Together was selected as the 2018 Annual Report 
theme because the Trustees were focussed throughout the year on 
reaching out to those we serve, and those we do not yet in order to 
shape the Fund’s future directions. We wanted to participate in a bigger 
way in the discussions surrounding housing reform on reserve and set 
the stage for the incoming generation of Trustees so they can hit the 
ground running when they assume their responsibilities in 2019.

Acting on the Trustees’ recommendation, the Government of 
Canada enacted a significant governance change that ensures 
the First Nations Market Housing Fund’s Board of Trustees will 
now be totally composed of First Nations citizens. We believe this 
is one step toward First Nations care and control of the Fund, as 
contemplated in the Indenture of Trust, and represents a milestone 
in the on-going pursuit for real Indigenous self-governance.

The founding Trustees have worked tirelessly over the past 11 years 
in a spirit of continuous improvement. We have made a point each 
summer of visiting communities we serve. Though each of us have 
spent some time working and living in a community, we believed it 
important to meet the people the Fund was serving - to get a sense of 
what our staff were doing well, and to see what we could do better.

I would like to personally thank my fellow founding 
Trustees for their dedication and hard work, as well as 
their wise counsel and collaboration. Their unwavering 
commitment to improve social and economic outcomes in 
First Nations communities leaves an enduring legacy.

The Fund will benefit from new energies and ideas as we work 
together with new Trustees to forge a strong path into its second 
decade.  The current Trustees have developed an integration 
plan for the new Trustees that will ensure that there is an 
appropriate crossover period for the new Trustees to familiarize 
themselves with the inner workings of the Fund, and a strong 
understanding of their duties as Fund guides and fiduciaries.
Large persistent gaps remain in Indigenous housing. Developing 
a market for housing in First Nations communities requires 
a transformative change that can only take place with a 
sustained comprehensive decades-long commitment.

We pass on to the incoming Trustees a Fund with a solid foundation. 
It includes professional seasoned staff, hard won expertise, modern 
financial management systems, almost a billion dollars in approved 
credit, striking homes on the ground, proven capacity building 
outcomes and a broad footprint across Canada. Almost forty per cent 
of all First Nations have chosen to work with the Fund. We thank and 
pass on the trust and respect of our First Nations partners who have 
worked closely with us to provide opportunity for their communities.
We will all move forward together on the next phase of the Fund’s 
mission to drive opportunity through the power of market housing. 

John Beaucage



Message from the Executive Director
The Fund was never meant to be a short-term fix that just made 
a small dent in the problem and then disappeared. From the 
discussions we had in the early 2000s through our birth at Kelowna 
we were conceived to be part of a long-term national comprehensive 
strategy to address a problem created over centuries. A strategy 
must also listen to and evolve with the needs of its community.

Since the Government of Canada launched the national 
housing strategy process in 2016, the Fund has been an 
eager participant. Fund representatives have contributed 
to discussions at the regional and national levels in a broad 
range of subjects. We have shared our perspectives about 
market housing as a tool to strengthen communities as well as 
identified barriers and obstacles that must be overcome.

We have also tried to better understand the 247 First Nations 
we serve and have reached out to those who have not yet 
decided to work with us, to see how we could attract them. 

The Fund commissioned research from Deakin University about 
the critical success factors for First Nations home ownership 
on reserve. Among the main takeaways is that the effects of 
colonisation are deep-seated and pervasive, and that trust and 
consistent respectful communication is necessary within a First 
Nations community and between the community and the Fund.

In 2018, the Trustees engaged First Nations leaders from across 
Canada to tell us how we could best capture what the Fund could 
do better or differently in serving the First Nations. The guidance 
we received led us to a series of 11 regional engagement sessions, 
where we met with representatives of 104 First Nations. Participants 
told us market-based housing is seen as a viable option for their 
housing needs and the Fund is supported in their communities. 
We also learned that we must continue to engage communities 
about the benefits of home ownership and look to continuously 
improve and innovate the way the Fund markets its services 
and engages prospective home owners and communities.

I will be forever grateful to the founding Trustees whose passion 
and enthusiasm have driven the Fund’s success.  Without them 
and the great staff of the Fund, we would not be where we 
are today – serving almost forty per cent of the First Nations 
in Canada and supporting them to meet their goals. The Fund 
staff and our many partners look forward to supporting the 
incoming Trustees with a renewed commitment informed by 
our engagement efforts to make market-housing a widespread 
solution and a key driver of economic and social reconciliation.

Deborah Taylor



Message from the Director, 
Finance and Administration
I am pleased to share the Fund’s 2018 operational activities. In July 
of 2018, I joined the Fund as Director, Finance and Administration. 
I am thankful to the retiring Director, George Jenkins, for providing 
me with excellent support as I transitioned into the job.

Prior to joining the Fund, I was a Senior Manager, Aboriginal 
Consulting with the accounting firm MNP LLP. I also worked for 
the First Nations Financial Management Board, as well as my own 
community government, the Mohawk Council of Akwesasne. My 
experience working with First Nations across Canada has been 
beneficial to my work at the Fund. Many of the First Nations 
clients that I have worked with are also clients of the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund. These First Nations are forward-looking 
communities who have a common goal which is to provide market-
based housing as an option that is available for their members.

I wanted to join the Fund because of the professionalism and the 
opportunities it presented to me to work in a company devoted 
to serving First Nations. While much of my role is “behind the 
scenes,” in the short period that I have been with the Fund, 
we have worked on a variety of projects such as revising the 
process for conducting financial reviews, providing analysis to 
support the Investment Committee, enhancing the value of 
credit enhancement, updating the Finance Policy to reflect new 
accounting standards, and supporting staff to participate in 
professional development areas such as cyber security, climate 
change, COSO standards, and not-for-profit financial management. 

Looking forward to 2019, I anticipate that we will be providing 
our staff with more opportunities to enhance their knowledge 
of First Nations culture and First Nations financial management. 
We will reflect on and respond to the valuable feedback 
obtained from the regional engagement sessions held in 
2018. We look forward to providing support to our newly 
appointed Trustees who are expected to be in place in 2019.

Travis Seymour
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Forward-Looking Statements

The Annual Report of the First Nations Market Housing Fund (“the Fund”) contains 
forward-looking statements regarding objectives, strategies and expected financial 
results. There are risks and uncertainties beyond the control of the Fund that 
include, but are not limited to, economic, financial and regulatory conditions.  
These factors, among others, may cause actual results to differ substantially 
from the expectations stated or implied in the forward-looking statements.

© 2019. All rights reserved. No portion of this Annual Report may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or 
by any means, mechanical, electronic, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior written permission of the First Nations Market 
Housing Fund. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, no portion of this Annual Report may be translated without the prior written 
permission of the First Nations Market Housing Fund. 
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2018 Highlights

First Nations Market Housing Fund
The Fund is the first national fund created to support 
financing arrangements for housing on reserve and 
settlement lands – it supports market-based housing on 
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2018 Highlights

$964
million
in potential credit

approved to support an
estimated 6600 homes

12
lenders

297
Fund-backed loans

201
First Nations Market Housing Fund partners

approved for credit enhancement
and/or capacity development

247 Partners - Close to 40% of First Nations across Canada

reserve by providing easier access to homeownership, 
rental and renovation loans in First Nations communities.
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Capacity Development Pillars
There are three pillars within the Fund’s Capacity 
Development Program: Financial Management; 
Community Commitment (and evidence of demand 
for market-based housing) and Good Governance.

All three pillars are intertwined; success in one area 
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2018 Highlights

$964
million
in potential credit

approved to support an
estimated 6600 homes

12
lenders

297
Fund-backed loans

201
First Nations Market Housing Fund partners

approved for credit enhancement
and/or capacity development

Number of First Nations participating in 
Capacity Development by activity

Number of People Trained

supports growth in the others. Strong capacity 
development initiatives in the areas of finance 
and governance for instance, support overall 
community development while fostering a positive 
environment for the implementation and sustainability 
of a strong market-based housing system.
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2018 – A Year in Review

External Environment
Indigenous-related issues, including housing and 
infrastructure, received considerable attention by a 
variety of Canadian decision-makers in 2018.

In 2017, the Government signalled its intention to 
dismantle old colonial structures, including replacing 
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada with two new 
departments to better serve Indigenous peoples while 
the important work of advancing rights recognition and 
greater self determination progressed. Budget 2018 took 
further steps to improve the quality of life of Indigenous 
peoples in Canada and supports a new approach to 
recognizing and implementing Indigenous rights.

As announced in Canada’s National Housing Strategy 
(NHS) in 2017, the Government and Indigenous partners 
are working together to improve housing conditions over 
the long term and to ensure that Indigenous peoples 
have greater control over housing in their communities. 
Through investments made in Budget 2017 and 2018, the 
Government provided new, distinctions-based support for 
a First Nations-led housing strategy, an Inuit-led housing 
plan and the Métis Nation’s housing strategy. Dedicated 
funding to support the successful implementation of each 
of the distinctions-based housing strategies includes:

• An additional $600 million over three years 
to support housing on reserve as part of a 
10-year First Nations Housing Strategy that 
is being developed with First Nations.

• $400 million over 10 years to support an Inuit-
led housing plan in the Inuit regions of Nunavik, 
Nunatsiavut and Inuvialuit. This is in addition to 
the $240 million over 10 years announced in 
Budget 2017 to support housing in Nunavut, where 
additional funding was provided for Inuit housing.

• $500 million over 10 years to support the 
Métis Nation’s housing strategy.

2018 marked the 10th anniversary of the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund (the “Fund”). The Fund was the 
brainchild of the Kelowna Accord. It was inspired by the 
need to find creative ways to deal with the on-reserve 
housing crisis. The idea was to see whether, given the 
tools and the opportunity, people living on reserve, on 
settlement lands and on lands set aside, would aspire 
to solve their own housing problems. The Fund was 
one piece of a comprehensive approach advocated by 
Kelowna and was never intended to solve all the housing 
issues. It was meant to tackle a portion of the need and 
demand using a creative financing instrument supported 
by capacity development. The purpose of the Fund is 
to support individuals who can afford a housing loan 

“We need to get to a place 
where Indigenous Peoples 
in Canada are in control 
of their own destiny, 
making their own decisions 
about their future.”
Prime Minister Justin Trudeau 
February 14, 2018

“Housing is a treaty right, but 
I can’t just wait for that. I still 
have to respect the treaty 
while I think outside the box 
to find homes for my citizens.”
Councillor Carlon Big Snake, Siksika Nation

“We want this to be 
an initiative of self-
determination.”
John Beaucage, Chairperson
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to finance the acquisition or construction of a house 
in order to create sustained economic growth and free 
up subsidized housing for those in greatest need.

In taking stock of the current environment, the Trustees 
and staff know there is still much work to be accomplished 
in building the foundation of knowledge and systems 
through which individuals, families, communities, Councils 
and financial institutions can participate in market-based 
housing in First Nations communities. The process of 
achieving market housing is lengthy. Significant time, 
focus, consistency and often many years of effort by 
the Fund and the partnering community is required 
before a home is built. The Fund works with each First 
Nations partner at their pace to introduce, prepare 
for, and implement each phase to build a sustainable 
market-based housing option in their community.

As of December 31, 2018, the Fund had approved credit 
for a potential 6,600 home loans; a key challenge moving 
forward will be to work with First Nations to qualify 
their members for home loans to unlock this credit. 

In taking a leadership role in working to build capacity for 
home ownership within First Nations communities, the 
Fund partnered with Deakin University in September 2017 
to lead a research project exploring the critical elements 
needed in First Nations communities to sustain a successful 
home ownership approach on reserve. In 2018, the Fund 
received the results of the independent research project.

During 2018, the Fund initiated a series of regional 
engagement sessions to secure First Nations’ 
leadership and participants’ input in the Fund’s 
approach for ensuring that market-based home 
ownership and the Fund are part of the ongoing 
reform of federal housing relative to First Nations.

The research findings together with input received during 
the engagement sessions will guide new approaches 
to reform and strengthen the governance and service 
delivery tactics of the Fund. This will build on the Fund’s 
partnership with nearly 40% of First Nations across the 
country to move toward a long-term approach that will 
support First Nations care, control and management 
of housing and infrastructure and address the needs 
of First Nations people living both on and off reserve. 
The Fund has shared these perspectives with the 
Government of Canada on increasing First Nations 
participation in the governance of this independent, yet 
accountable Fund committed to market-based housing.

The Fund remains focused on ensuring continued 
success in achieving its mandate to increase the 
opportunities for market-based home ownership 
on First Nations lands and is prepared to embrace 
an enriched mandate subject to new directions the 
Government of Canada may introduce resulting from 
the consultations on the On-Reserve Housing Reform.

*as of December 31, 2018
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The Fund in Action
Moving Forward Together represents the Fund in 2018 on 
several fronts. The Fund welcomed new staff and expanded 
its office workspace to better serve the needs of staff and 
our clients seeking stronger outcomes in implementing 
their market-based housing programs. The Fund moves 
forward together with each home owner as they build, 
purchase or renovate their home by supporting individuals 
gaining knowledge and acquiring new skills as a result of 
capacity development funding. Strategic planning with 
leadership in partnering First Nations to establish strong 
polices and procedures helps move forward a community’s 
desire to offer a market-based housing program as an 
option for their citizens. The Fund will continue to move 
forward together with its partners as the Fund’s first 
decade is celebrated and the next decade is anticipated.

Developing a market for housing in most First Nations 
communities represents a transformative change. First 
Nations communities and citizens have not had a great 
deal of experience with loan-based home ownership and 
the direct and indirect benefits it creates. For many, the 
Fund has served as the first experience in market housing 
and is enabling them to build expertise, administration 
systems and governance models to ready themselves for 
home ownership. Working judiciously within a complex 
and multi-faceted environment, the Fund strives to respect 
and move at the pace of each First Nation to establish the 
engagement approach, application processes, supportive 
programs, and relationships needed to build the confidence 
of First Nations governments, individual community 
members and lenders. This carefully built foundation is 
expanding the emerging market-based housing system 
in First Nations communities and involving a wide range 
of First Nations, their organizations and the financial 
community in what is often a multi-year process. The 
Trustees and staff are particularly proud that close to 40 
per cent of First Nations have chosen to work with the 
Fund, given the voluntary application process for First 
Nations to make use of the Fund’s programs and services.

“You took something that 
didn’t exist and built it 
over the last 10 years. 
Now the task is to build 
upon that foundation.”
Chief Cadmus Delorme, Cowessess First Nation

Trustees and staff celebrated the Fund’s 10-year anniversary.
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Independent Research Project 
The Fund brought in 
experts in Indigenous 
matters from Australia’s 
Deakin University for their 
independent analysis. The 
purpose of the research 
project was to identify 
the factors affecting the 
uptake of private financing 
for First Nations home 
ownership on reserve lands. 
Identifying these factors is 
important to facilitate the 
successful implementation 

of private financing approaches by First Nations 
governments in co-operation with the Fund.

The contextual analysis highlights the specific policy, 
infrastructure and financial barriers to achieving an 
acceptable level and quality of housing stock on First 
Nations lands. These issues are deeply embedded in 
historical, legal, economic and political events that 
have an ongoing impact. They are reflected in the key 
elements identified in the analysis which are divided 
into two overarching considerations and four more 
specific themes for the uptake of private financing.

The two broad considerations are:

• The effects of colonisation which are 
deep-seated and pervasive; and

• Trust and communications within the 
First Nations government bands and 
between the Bands and the Fund.

These underpin and affect every aspect 
of the four main themes:

• Uncertainty about home and land control/tenure 
created by the Indian Act and historical events;

• First Nations Government policies and governance 
practices which vary between the three communities 
that participated in the research project and provide 
different levels of support for private financing of homes;

• The need for strong, transparent and reliable Band 
Council leadership and operational management; and

• Infrastructure development to ensure 
safe and healthy homes.

Based on the research, nine recommendations were 
formed to support the important role of the Fund 
in the collaborative work with First Nations and 
government to advance and sustain market-based 

In April 2018, the Fund convened its annual strategic 
planning session. A strategy dialogue with a number 
of participating First Nations Chiefs and Councillors 
considered the preliminary findings of the independent 
research project, ways to improve the work of the Fund, 
how to maximize the take-up of the available/unused loan 
guarantee space (individual applicants), the inclusion of the 
Fund as one of the options available within the Indigenous 
component of the National Housing Strategy, and how to 
move toward increased autonomy and independence of the 
Fund. Leadership also provided input on the Fund’s desire 
to host regional engagement sessions over the summer/
fall of 2018 to gather further input on these matters. 
The leadership dialogue and the regional engagement 
sessions (with the exception of the Montreal session) were 
all independently facilitated and reported upon by Harold 
Tarbell (Akwesasne Mohawk), Tarbell Facilitation Network.

Left: Harold Tarbell; top right: John Beaucage, Chariperson, Councillor Gerald McKenzie, 
Lac La Ronge Indian Band; bottom right: Ruth Williams, Vice Chairperson, Cheif Wilbert 
Marshall, Potlotek First Nation.
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housing on reserve and settlement lands. The nine 
recommendations correspond namely to five categories:

• Communication and trust building to foster 
confidence in housing processes and policies;

• Capacity building for improved housing and land policies 
and processes that meet the needs of band members;

• Meeting the needs of band members in 
relation to education and the structuring 
of private financing options;

• Improving the quality of infrastructure; and

• Mitigating the effects of colonisation, such as 
lobbying for legislation that supports First Nations’ 
access to private financing for home building.

Regional Engagement Sessions
In summer/fall 2018, the Fund initiated a series of regional 
engagement sessions to secure First Nations’ leadership 
and participants’ input in the Fund’s approach for ensuring 
that market-based home ownership and the Fund are 
part of the ongoing reform of federal housing relative 
to First Nations. The Fund engaged with leadership and 
participants representing 104 First Nations across Canada. 
Each session, co-hosted by a local First Nations leader and 
a Fund Trustee, provided regional specific dialogues for 
representatives of First Nations currently working with the 
Fund and some not currently participating with the Fund.

A summary of the general feedback obtained 
over the course of the regional engagement 
sessions is highlighted below:

• Market-based housing is seen as a viable option to be 
available to assist First Nations meet their housing needs. 
While there continues to be strong support at all levels 
for efforts to secure government resources to build 
houses from both a rights-based and socio-economic 
perspective, there is a growing recognition that private 
loan-based financing for home ownership is an approach 
that can improve the housing situation for a portion 
of the First Nations population in a timelier manner 
and that every house that is built provides multiples 
of value to the community – freeing up resources for 
those most in need, providing local economic stimulus 
and inspiring others to aspire to home ownership.

• There is a need and support for a continued role of the 
Fund in First Nations housing. First Nations require this 
type of support in their efforts to create and sustain the 
systems necessary to make this housing finance option 
available to their members. The Fund is the only First 
Nations organization that has developed any expertise 
in this aspect of housing on First Nations lands.

• It is important to continue to respect and move at the 
pace of each First Nation. This is an essential strategy 
for supporting community driven efforts to: address 
the challenges involved in creating, implementing 
and enforcing a loan-based home ownership regime; 
adapting to the recurring transitions of key personnel 
due to elections and staffing changes; gain experience 
with the intricacies of a loan-based market for housing; 
and navigate within a community environment 
that is often shaped by economic uncertainty.

• Developing a market for housing in First Nations 
communities is a transformative change. First Nations 
communities and citizens have not had a great deal 
of experience with loan-based home ownership and 
the direct and indirect benefits it creates. Within this 
new and evolving terrain where First Nations and 
their individual citizens are continuously learning 
and relearning the intricacies of both the Fund’s 
services and utilizing personal loans for housing, 
it is critical to be accepting of the ebb and flow 
within each community. The Fund is needed to 
continue to provide support as First Nations and 
individual citizens work through the chronic and 
recurring challenges involved in the transitioning 
to and participating in market-based housing.

• While there is an awareness of Canada’s and the 
First Nations’ national housing strategies and the 
local gaps that need to be addressed, there is not 
a lot of detailed knowledge about their content or 
how they could be levered by the communities to 
improve their housing circumstances. Community 
housing officials and leadership generally support 
the continuation of the Fund as an independent 
Trust accountable to participating First Nations 
within the context of those strategies.

The importance of continuously updating approaches 
to engage/re-engage with both participating and non-
participating First Nations to address misconceptions 
and ensure clarity about the purpose, processes and 
benefits of the Fund was front and center throughout the 
regional engagement sessions. Moving Forward Together, 
leadership and participants from across Canada gave of 
their time and shared their wisdom to collaborate on 
innovative ways the Fund and First Nations can provide 
choice and flexibility for viable housing options on reserve. 
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“One of our sacred duties 
is to get our people good, 
safe, clean housing.”
Chief Harvey McLeod, Upper Nicola Band

“First Nations have to have 
access to a tool that allows 
community members to 
be a little more diverse 
in the options we have 
available for housing.”
Ruth Williams, Vice-Chairperson
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The Fund’s Growing Footprint
Moving Forward Together, the Fund will continue to have 
a powerful impact in First Nations communities. During 
the regional engagement sessions, Trustees heard first 
hand of the many milestones achieved at the leadership, 
community and individual levels. Support provided by the 
Fund has helped First Nations communities in each vital 
step taken to expand market-based housing. Statistical 
measurement is only one way to gauge progress. 
Throughout the Annual Report, stories of some of the 
impacts the Fund’s work has made will be shared.

In the Fund’s 10th year of operation, 10 additional First 
Nations chose to partner with the Fund, bringing the 
total number of First Nation partners to 247. Four First 
Nations partners that were approved for the Fund’s 
Credit Enhancement and Capacity Development Program 
chose to be announced in 2018. Their profiles and 
market-based housing aspirations are featured under 
‘Getting to Know our Newest Partners.’  Over $964 
million in potential credit for loans for approximately 
6,600 homes backed by the Fund were approved by 
the end of 2018. These numbers continue to grow 
toward the Fund’s full potential of leveraging $3 billion 
in additional on-reserve housing investments. 

The Fund is proud to have a total of 12 partnering national 
and regional financial institutions through the Fund’s Credit 
Enhancement program. During 2018, Caisse Populaire 
Alliance Ltée became one lender versus six independents, 
as previously recognized by the Fund. The 29 branches 
supported by this amalgamation will expand choice for 
participating First Nations, particularly in Northern Ontario. 
The support of all lender partnerships provides more 
opportunities in underserved geographic areas for First 
Nations to establish new relationships with a financial 
institution to increase home loan options for their citizens 
to purchase, build or renovate a home in their community.

Capacity Development
Moving Forward Together reflects the Fund’s willingness 
to embrace the uniqueness of each First Nations journey 
toward, or enhancement of, market-based housing 
options for their citizens. Each partnership is tailored to 
the community’s capacity, challenges and opportunities. 
This means the Fund must work with every First Nation 
at their own pace to address their distinct housing 
challenges. These challenges vary from First Nation 
to First Nation, and so does the Fund’s support.

To respond to the unique needs of its First Nations 
partners, the Fund continued to focus on designing 
and accessing capacity development initiatives. Over 
1,200 initiatives are now underway or completed in 
131 First Nations. More than $21 million has been 
invested to date on building the foundation required 
to implement and/or sustain market-based housing on 
communally-held First Nations lands across Canada.

The provision of capacity development funding looks 
different in each community even though it focuses on the 
Fund’s three access criteria pillars: Financial Management; 
Good Governance; and Community Commitment. All three 
pillars are intertwined; success in one area supports growth 
in the others. Robust capacity development initiatives 
in the areas of finance and governance, for instance, 
support overall community development while fostering 
a positive environment for the implementation and 
sustainability of a strong market-based housing system.

Left: Glen Hare, Grand Council Chief of the Anishinabek Nation, John Beaucage, 
Chairperson; Right: Travis Seymour, Director, Finance and Administration, Earl Commanda, 
Program Manager.

Left: Lucille Michaud, Senior Program Officer, Gail Joe, Capacity Development Provider; 
Right: Scott Flamand, Capacity Development Provider
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Community
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244*
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381*

446*

42*

Community Engagement

Financial Literacy

Home Maintenance and Repair

Home Ownership

Managing Credit/Debit & Mortgages

Misc Workshop

AFOA Course 

Accounting, Business Accounting, General 
Ledger & Financial Reporting Training

Accpac & Accounting Software Training

Asset Management Training & Planning

Conference Attendance

Finance Manual Development

Financial Literacy Training

Financial Management Analysis

Financial Planning

Financial Policy, By-law & Law

HST Recovery Training

Trust Management

University Degree Course

Aboriginal Law & Policy Training

Arrears Management

Business Writing

Bylaw Development

CAPA Course

Capital Planning

Communications, Web Design, Social 
Media & Toastmasters Training

Community Management

Community Strategic Plan

Comprehensive Community Plan

Election Code

Engineering Study

Governance Policy

IT & Computer Training

Leadership, Governance & Management

Matrimonial Real Property Law

Membership Code

Misc Governance

Organizational Review & Development

Project Management Training

Public Administration Training

Staff/Management Development

University Degree Course

Employment Law

HR Training & Workplace Safety

HR/Personnel Management & Policy

Human Rights & Occupational Training

Internal Communications Plan

Workplace Investigations Certificate

Economic Development Training

Engineering Study

Environmental Plan, Assessment,
Policy, Program

Environmental Training

GIS & Lands Management Training

Land Management Manual

Land Survey

Land Use Plan, Land Use Bylaw,
Zoning Bylaw

Lands Act, Land Tenure, Land Code

Lands Registry System

Misc Lands & Ec Dev

National Aboriginal Land Managers 
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Real Estate Institute of Canada
Training & Certification

Housing Authority

Housing Committee Training

Housing Condition Assessment

Housing Inventory Management System

Housing Legal Review

Housing Manager Training

Housing Policy

Housing Standard

Housing Strategy

Misc Housing & Infrastructure

Operational Review

Operations, Maintenance & Public Works

Staff Workshop & Conference Attendance

* number of people trained in CD by activity to December 31, 2018

The Fund provides capacity development support in a variety of areas:

In 2018, Trustees and staff spent a great deal of time 
meeting and speaking with partners, potential partners 
and stakeholders to continually move forward together 
to improve the Fund’s capacity development services. 
Through the regional engagement sessions, leadership 
and participants expressed that the Fund’s Capacity 
Development program is highly valued. There continues to 
be great interest and support for providing First Nations 
with more and longer-term access to the Fund’s capacity 
development function. We share the stories of some of 
the individuals who participated in capacity development 

initiatives during 2018 in the regional reports.

The First Nations Market Housing Fund wishes to 
congratulate the following 2018 Graduates who were 
supported by the Fund’s Capacity Development Program:

VIU – First Nation Housing Manager Certificate 
Tara Gonzales, Skeetchestn Indian Band 

Yellowquill College – First Nation Community 
Management 
David Yellowback, Manto Sipi Cree Nation
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Capacity Development
64% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Building are 
utilizing the Fund’s Capacity Development Program 
- 420 people trained in over 87 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On July 12 2018, Fund Trustee Jim Prodger co-
hosted an engagement session in Moncton with 
Chief Sidney Peters, Glooscap First Nation.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the 
Fund can work better to support communities and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Putting Housing Navigators in place to help 
individuals plan over various time frames (e.g. 
getting ready to buy within 1-5 years).

• Promote understanding of home ownership 
responsibilities – maintenance, plumbing, utilities, snow 
removal – hands on/manual home education course.

• Teach financial literacy skills like how to open a bank 
account, credit establishment, credit maintenance, how 
to be fiscally responsible, budgeting and how to save.

• Help community develop a Circle of Care 
approach bringing together all available programs, 
services and supports in the community.

Community

Finance

Governance

Housing

Human Resources

Lands & Ec Dev

1

4

4

6

3

2

*as of December 31, 2018

Number of First 
Nations Participating 

in CD by Activity

0

33

156

27

203

2

Number of People 
Trained in CD

by Activity

18%

30
Fund-backed

loans

82%

137
available

loan space

$13 million in credit approved
167 potential home loans

18%
30 Fund-backed loans

82%
137 available loan space

$13 million in credit approved        167 potential home loans



FNMHF 2018 Annual Report 17

Membertou – Customizing 
Your Home, Your Way
The opportunity to customize the standard design and 
finishes of Fund-backed homes guaranteed by Membertou 
under their new Home Purchase Program has proven 
popular with members. Building on the program that 
the Wemindji Cree Nation in Quebec had developed, 
Membertou made it their own by developing a list of 
exterior and interior options a member could upgrade. 
Participating members first choose a standard home 
design, and then are given the opportunity to customize 
a variety of features. Upgrade options include exterior 
cladding, decking and shingles, as well as a host of interior 
changes including the heating/cooling system, appliances, 
flooring, kitchen and bathroom fixtures and cabinetry.

Aaron Stevens and his family of four are proud first-time 
home owners. Aaron, an employee of the Public Works 
Department at Membertou had been on a crew working 
on sewer and water installation in Membertou’s newest 
subdivision when he became aware of the program. Living 
with family, and then in an apartment, he was not where 
he wanted to be permanently with his young family. Aaron 
wanted them to have a home of their own. Aaron chose 
from the largest of the standard home designs Membertou 
offered and enhanced it to fit the needs of the family. 
Favoring an open concept design, Aaron enlarged the 
living room, the master bedroom and the rec room, and 
changed the kitchen, including opting for a gas stove. He 
really likes that the gas is also piped to his BBQ so he does 
not have to fill those “little tanks.” Aaron changed the 
upstairs bathroom to make it larger and more functional 
and chose waterproof plank flooring throughout the main 
rooms both for looks and its hardiness.  This spring Aaron 
hopes to put down sod and build a fence where his kids 
and dog can play, off the bigger deck he chose.  Aaron 
said he thinks it is “pretty cool” he got to choose all these 
features. He said many have asked him how he did it- his 
answer is he heard about the option and jumped at it. He 
has offered to tell anyone who asks about his experience.

“We would still be living in an apartment if the 
program didn’t come up” said Aaron.

“Plain and simple – the Trustees 
believe that market-based 
housing on reserve should be an 
option for those who want it.”

Trustee Jim Prodger

“We need to work together to have 
a First Nations housing and related 
infrastructure strategy developed 
by First Nations for First Nations.”

Chief Sidney Peters

2018 Highlights
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Regional Report — Quebec

Capacity Development
55% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Building utilizing 
the Fund’s Capacity Development Program - 
600 people trained in over 94 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On September 20, 2018, Deborah Taylor, Executive Director 
and Lawrence Katapatuk, Cree Nation Government, 
co-hosted an engagement session in Montreal.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the 
Fund can work better to support communities and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Quicker process for potential borrowers 
to deal with the lenders.

• Personal and financial literacy training on 
an ongoing basis in the community.

• Credit score repair plans – offer in-person 
service – support people as they work 
through their financial challenges.

• Support home owner promotion – communication 
products to help educate citizens - a feasibility study.
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The Fund Supports Community 
Driven Solutions
In July 2018, representatives from five (5) James Bay Cree 
communities gathered in Val-d’Or to participate in a 2-day 
Enhanced Arrears Management workshop sponsored 
by the Fund and delivered by Turtle Island Associates. 
Each Cree Nation was invited to bring a team consisting 
of key staff involved in housing including the Housing 
Manager, a representative from Finance and Social 
Development and one Councillor. During the workshop, 
participants identified how housing arrears affects a 
community, considered roles and responsibilities for 
arrears management, discussed solutions for addressing 
current and historical arrears and types of proactive 
measures that could be adopted to prevent arrears.

The teams acknowledged the effects of housing arrears 
including contributing to the increasing housing deficit, 
sometimes resulting in the First Nation using non-
housing revenue to cover housing expenses, limitations 
to their ability to build new homes or repair the 
existing homes, contributing to overcrowding, homes 
not being maintained often leading to deteriorating 
living conditions and tenant dissatisfaction.

Representatives from the James Bay Cree communities 
were equipped to develop a customized housing arrears 
management strategy specific to the needs of their 
community. Although the initial 2-day workshop involved 
five communities, follow up sessions continue with each 
community on an individual basis to review their strategy 
and resources/activities that have been developed with a 
view to identifying and discussing opportunities for further 
enhancements including policy changes, new administrative 
practices, additional resources and communication 
plans with Council, membership and tenants.

“We need qualified 
people in housing – even 
certified people don’t 
have the experience.”
Participant

“There needs to be ongoing 
financial literacy – it needs 
to be more intense.”
Participant

Flora Gull, Rental Housing 
Administrator – Cree First 
Nation of Waswanipi
The Fund wishes to recognize Flora’s achievement 
in obtaining the Certified Aboriginal Professional 
Administrator (CAPA) designation. Flora shares how 
she personally and professionally benefited from 
the Fund’s Capacity Development Program.

How will the training you received 
help you in your current role?

The professional development helped me to plan 
for the future needs of the Housing Department. 
Also, it helped housing staff in administration and 
maintenance to update their training requirements. 

How will your training help in strengthening 
the Band Administration/Community?

In the near future, training a young community member 
will be a great asset to prepare our future housing needs. 
As I was pursuing professional development, I was getting 
ideas on how to strengthen the Housing Department 
such as developing a Long-Term Strategic Housing Plan.

2018 Highlights
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Regional Report — Ontario

Capacity Development
73% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Building utilizing 
the Fund’s Capacity Development Program - 
1,192 people trained in over 400 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On July 31, 2018, John Beaucage, Fund Chairperson 
and Chief Joe Ladouceur, Bingwi Neyaashi Anishinaabek 
(Sand Point) co-hosted an engagement session in Thunder 
Bay. On August 2, 2018, Trustee Gail Shawbonquit and 
Chief Don Maracle, Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte 
co-hosted an engagement session in Toronto.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the 
Fund can work better to support communities and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Learn from other First Nations’ experiences.

• Additional technical training particularly for 
housing needs surveys and capacity building.

• Infrastructure investments i.e. serviced lots.

• Revisit the eligibility window for 
capacity building funding.
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Grace Strang, Executive Director, 
CAFM – Lac Seul First Nation
The Fund wishes to recognize Grace in the achievement 
of her CAFM designation. She shares her story below.

I am grateful to the Fund for sponsoring my fees 
to pursue becoming a Certified Aboriginal Financial 
Manager (CAFM). This investment in my professional 
development has not only helped me on a professional 
level to perform better, but it also helped prepare me for 
a position of greater responsibility in my community. The 
CAFM course gave me the confidence and credibility to 
advance in my role from Finance Manager to becoming 
the first ever Executive Director for our First Nation.   

The professional development I pursued has helped 
to strengthen our First Nation Administration because 
it helped me to see the importance of implementing 
organizational change that improved administrative 
systems and accountability throughout our organization. 
The CAFM course also gave me the confidence to 
confront issues and to apply my knowledge of how 
to manage organizational change strategically.

“What will make us better, 
to work for you?”
John Beaucage, Fund Chairperson

“We need to help the 
Fund work for the 
communities it serves.”
Chief Joe Ladouceur

2018 Highlights
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Regional Report — Manitoba

Capacity Development
83% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Building utilizing 
the Fund’s Capacity Development Program – 
390 people trained in over 70 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On September 5, 2018, John Beaucage, Fund Chairperson 
and Chief Dennis Meeches, Long Plain First Nation 
co-hosted an engagement session in Long Plain.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the 
Fund can work better to support communities and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Convene more regional and sub-regional workshops.

• Continue to strengthen the content and 
reliability of First Nations housing policies at the 
governance and program management levels.

• Utilize a combination of confidence and skill 
building (e.g. sharing success stories, strengthening 
financial literacy, promoting home ownership 
benefits), how to information sharing such as 
case studies and targeted reusable tools/tool kits 
(e.g. checklists, online assessment tools).

• Include other First Nations lands.
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First Fund-backed loans in Manitoba
The first Fund-backed loans in Manitoba were realized at 
Long Plain First Nation on the Keeshkeemaquah Reserve 
(Portage la Prairie). Arrowhead Development Corporation, 
which manages band owned businesses on its three 
reserves, undertook the partnership with the Fund as an 
economic opportunity to construct four rent-to-own units. 
A blessing ceremony for the homes was held in May. 

David Yellowback, Housing Manager 
– Manto Sipi Cree Nation
The Fund’s success is directly 
tied to the success of our 
First Nations partners. In 
2018, David graduated from 
Yellowquill College with 
a First Nation Community 
Management diploma.

How will the training 
you received help you 
in your current role?

There were many components in this program 
that has helped me in my current position.

How will your training help in strengthening 
the Band Administration/Community?

Through planning and looking at issues critically 
will help in providing better service to the 
community. All aspects of this program have 
helped me to grow and enhance my skills.

“The Fund needs to work 
with communities on 
resistance to change.”

Participant

“What we are doing now to 
make it better, is helping to 
build the community’s capacity 
to thrive through housing.”
John Beaucage, Chairperson

2018 Highlights
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Regional Report — Saskatchewan

Capacity Development
83% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Development are 
utilizing the Fund’s Capacity Development Program 
– 191 people trained in over 55 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On August 17, 2018, Trustee Gail Shawbonquit, Chief 
Cadmus Delorme, Cowessess First Nation and Councillor 
Kevin Seesequasis, Beardy’s and Okemasis’ First Nation 
co-hosted an engagement session in Saskatoon.

The Fund has approved $18.5 million in credit 
to support an estimated 170 potential loans 
in Saskatchewan. As at December 31, 2018, 
there are no Fund-backed loans in place.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the 
Fund can work better to support communities and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Improve and expand marketing of the Fund 
to different audiences and especially to 
individuals and potential home owners and 
in different on and off reserve locations.

• Create communication tools that make it 
easy for others to be champions for market-
based housing within communities.

• Encourage innovation in the types of homes within 
the communities that can be/are backed by the Fund 
(e.g. tiny homes, assisted living, teacherages, elders, 
youth, construction methods and materials).

• Emphasize the economic benefits of housing, 
especially the employment opportunities.

• Create more stability in terms of following the 
policy rules and processes put in place, secure 
access and possession of the lot that the house 
is on or going to be built on, and the availability 
of supportive and necessary infrastructure.
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Cowessess First Nation – Land 
Use Plan / Zoning Bylaw
In 2012, the Cowessess First Nation began a capacity 
building initiative to develop a comprehensive Land Use 
Plan, Land Use Law and training for Cowessess staff in 
land use planning. The objective, with support from the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program, was to equip 
Cowessess First Nation with the legislation, systems 
and internal capacity to manage their reserve and TLE 
lands over the long term. In 2018, the Land Use Plan 
and Zoning Bylaw were adopted by the community.

“The ideas and energy in this room can contribute to so 
much success in our communities. We have to go home 
and tell our people that they can own a quality home.”
Councillor Kevin Seesequasis 

2018 Highlights

“Cowessess First Nation 
will continue to achieve 
economic self-sustainability, 
political sovereignty, and 
cultural rejuvenation. It is 
laws which are going to 
help Cowessess First Nation 
succeed and with the First 
Nations Market Housing 
Fund, success is possible.”
Chief Cadmus Delorme
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Regional Report — Alberta

Capacity Development
77% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Building are 
utilizing the Fund’s Capacity Development Program 
– 195 people trained in over 69 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On September 6, 2018, Trustee Gail Shawbonquit 
and Councillor Carlon Big Snake, Siksika Nation 
co-hosted an engagement session in Enoch.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the 
Fund can work better to support communities and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Helping housing departments communicate more with 
community members and leadership to help them:

• Understand how home ownership through loans can 
work without breaking the treaty or undermining 
government to government relationships.

• Gain insight into the development process and 
the hurdles and solutions they will encounter on 
the journey to a home ownership program.

• Accept the necessity of housing governance policies.

• Having a longer-term strategy of educating the 
youth to be the next generation of home owners 
and shaping marketing to specifically address 
home ownership attitudes of millennials.

• Strengthen community needs assessment and 
land management capacities and approaches.

• Encourage and support networking 
amongst and between First Nations.
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Frank Medicine Shield, Market 
Housing Coordinator – Siksika Nation
The Fund wishes to recognize Frank’s success in his 
pursuit of continuous learning with support from the 
Fund’s Capacity Development Program and on the 
implementation of the market-housing program in 
his community. Frank shares his experience below.

How will the professional development 
you pursued help you as it pertains to 
your current role/future endeavors?

The courses I had taken – Business Analysis Certification 
and Project Management – has given me more skills 
and knowledge about housing construction. With 
the experiences in all construction, business process 
management and also in financial management, 
I have streamlined the mortgaging of homes and 
budgeting that we must follow in Siksika Nation.

How will the professional development 
you pursued help in strengthening the First 
Nation Administration/Community?

It will strengthen community understanding of how 
mortgaging works and to educate personal one-on-
one financial management. With Siksika Nations’ 
policy, finance, construction it would give the Nation 
an opportunity to pursue jobs and future endeavours 
for economic development in administration.

“I understand the learning curve that Alberta First Nations 
need to go through on market-based housing and to 
overcome fears that this will lead to the banks taking 
our land and to overcome Indian Act impediments.”
Councillor Carlon Big Snake

2018 Highlights
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Regional Report — British Columbia

Capacity Development
53% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Building are 
utilizing the Fund’s Capacity Development Program 
– 582 people trained in over 377 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On August 28, 2018, Ruth Williams, Vice-Chairperson 
and Chief Harvey McLeod, Upper Nicola Band co-
hosted an engagement session in Kamloops. On 
October 11, 2018, Ruth Williams, Vice-Chairperson 
and Chief Harvey Underwood, Tsawout First Nation 
co-hosted an engagement session in Tsawout.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the 
Fund can work better to support communities and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Ongoing engagement and clarification of materials 
in user friendly terms is required. The name ‘The 
Fund’ is easily misunderstood as implying it provides 
funding to purchase homes rather than a back-up 
that makes financing more available. It is important 
that these clarifications be continually repeated 
within each First Nations community as they become 
more familiar with the unique considerations and 
nuances involved in market-based housing.

• Share lessons learned by the Fund and First 
Nations for dealing with the ‘hiccups’ that have 
been experienced over the last ten years.

• Use multiple home ownership strategies/approaches 
(individual, band developed rent-to-own, mixed use).

• Promoting the benefits of the individual home 
owner and their family, as well as the benefits 
of reduced overcrowding, making social 
housing available to those more in need and 
employment in the community’s economy.
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Tara Gonzales-Nicholas, Housing/
Construction Technician - 
Skeetchestn Indian Band
Tara’s pursuit of continuous education was supported 
by the Fund’s Capacity Development Program. In 
2018, she graduated from Victoria Island University 
having completed the First Nations Housing Manager 
Certificate program. Her story is below.

How will the training you received 
help you in your current role?

Learning the full roles and responsibilities of 
being a manager will help me in the future 
because with this training I can understand 
the full expectations of being a manager.

How will your training help in strengthening 
the Band Administration/Community?

Bringing this information/knowledge into my community 
will help both administratively and my community. 
Seeing the big picture of running a department and 
being able to help my community are ways I plan 
to use what I’ve learned from this program.

“Get access to community 
members/grassroots through the 
housing committees of those 
Nations involved with the Fund.”
Participant

“The First Nations Market 
Housing Fund is mitigating 
the effects of colonialism.”
Participant

2018 Highlights
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Regional Report — Yukon and NWT

Capacity Development
67% of First Nations approved for Credit 
Enhancement and / or Capacity Building are 
utilizing the Fund’s Capacity Development Program 
– 208 people training in over 55 initiatives.

Engagement Session
On September 27, 2018, Ruth Williams, Vice-
Chairperson and Regional Chief Kluane Adamek co-
hosted an engagement session in Whitehorse.

A sample of the ideas generated for how the Fund 
can work better to support the community and 
potential home owners in utilizing the available loan 
space already approved by the Fund included:

• Create additional forums and opportunities for 
the community to contribute to the design of 
home ownership policies and procedures and 
to become further aware of the opportunities, 
processes and responsibilities.

• Invest in a long-term planning perspective that projects 
how market-based home ownership can support 
meeting the First Nations’ housing needs throughout the 
life cycle of the individual, community and the house.

• Secure agreements that make this approach 
applicable to all forms of First Nations land in 
the Yukon, including urban developments.

• Build awareness and provide appropriate supports to 
address housing related infrastructure costs including 
the transition to clean/green energy approaches.
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Richard, Lorraine and Trinity Dewhurst
Richard and Lorraine own a small one-bedroom home 
in their community of Teslin, within the Traditional 
Territory of Teslin Tlingit Council. Their home is 
old and is in need of major repairs and the cost to 
build an addition and renovate is expensive.

Through Teslin Tlingit Council’s housing program with the 
First Nations Market Housing Fund, the Dewhursts’ were 
able to obtain a loan to finance and construct a new home 
to suit their family’s needs. Richard and Lorraine are very 
happy with the new design of their new home which saw 
their contractor turn their log home into a three-bedroom 
frame house. They love the new handmade cupboards, 
pine ceiling and covered front deck and the fact that 
their son will finally have his own bedroom and space.

Richard is a game guardian for TTC. Lorraine has received 
her certificate in Tlingit language and is pursuing a 
Tlingit language career. They have a six-year old son 
named Trinity. Owning their own home meant security 
for them, it is something they can be proud of and 
knowing their son will have a home in the future and 
having that stability. It is something that they have 
worked very hard for and now it is a reality. Being able 
to build on their current land was a bonus. Their home 
has a gorgeous view, is in walking distance from the 
lake, close to family and the community school.

Richard and Lorraine offer the following advice 
to fellow members and/or home owners:

“The process was easy to understand. TTC and the bank – 
The First Nations Bank of Canada – were very helpful and 
patient and wanted us to succeed. Get a good contractor 
that has trades so one contractor can do all the work. 
This saves time and money trying to find other contractors 
for different pieces of the construction. Talk openly with 
your contractor and develop a good working relationship. 
Try to get your groundwork and building started in 
the early Spring to avoid the Fall and rainy season.”

“Need to change the meaning 
of social housing – should 
be seen as a stepping 
stone – not permanent.”
Participant

“It’s not all about home 
ownership, it’s also about life 
skills and decision making.”
Participant

2018 Highlights
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Kamloopa PowWow
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Spreading the Word

Moving Forward Together starts from the premise that 
the Fund strives to serve First Nations in a respectful 
way and work collaboratively to support community 
driven solutions. To support this commitment, in 2018, 
the staff made a total of 121 trips and conducted 
152 meetings in First Nations communities.

Community choices reflect each First Nation’s 
reality, which is unique in many respects. Building 
capacity strength reflects the strategies designed 
with each First Nation. The parameters set for Fund-
backed loans reflect each community’s needs. The 
designs of homes and the renovations chosen reflect 
individual tastes and levels of affordability. The Fund 
is committed to a sustainable solution that comes 
from full engagement of our First Nations partners.

Trustee Appointment Process
The Trustees developed and shared Trustee criteria with 
Minister Duclos’ office and were pleased that when the 
Notice of Opportunity – Appointments to the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund - was officially published in October 
2018, the criteria stated that all nine new Trustees must 
be First Nations. In addition, as suggested by the Trustees, 
the Government of Canada is seeking candidates that are 
solution-driven leaders and visionaries who have strong 
capacity in the areas of First Nations housing, finance and 
investments, governance and organizational development. 
The Trustees consider these attributes to be highly regarded 
in order to fulfill the fiduciary obligations to the Fund and 
provide strategic direction to achieve the Fund’s objectives.

“We need to look at as 
many options as possible.”
Chief R. Donald Maracle, Mohawks 
of the Bay of Quinte
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NOTICE OF OPPORTUNITY – APPOINTMENTS  
TO THE FIRST NATIONS MARKET HOUSING FUND

The Government of Canada is seeking qualified individuals for appointment as trustee to the First Nations Market 
Housing Fund (the “Fund”). Candidates must be solution-driven leaders and visionaries who have strong capacity  
in the areas of First Nations housing, finance and investments, governance and organizational development.

The Fund was established in 2008 to expand and bring market-based housing options to First Nations communities 
so that qualified members can have the opportunity to obtain loans from financial institutions and build, buy or 
renovate a home on-reserve or on settlement lands, where land is held communally.

The board is composed of nine First Nations trustees: three individuals who are from First Nations communities and 
six with experience in the private sector finance community and federal government community. The trustees are 
responsible for overseeing the Fund’s governance and practices, and for providing direction to achieve results. 
Appointed trustees have a fiduciary obligation to the Fund.

As part of ongoing work between the Assembly of First Nations (AFN) and the federal government to co-develop  
a First Nations Housing Strategy, the federal government is committed to exploring how current on-reserve housing 
programming, such as the First Nations Market Housing Fund, can be reformed to achieve improved and sustained 
outcomes and enable the transition to First Nations’ care, control and management of housing. 

Interested candidates can find more information on the Fund and the qualifications being sought by visiting  
www.cmhc.ca/fnmhf.

The deadline for submission is November 16, 2018. Please mail a resumé along with a cover letter outlining your 
reasoning for your application to:

First Nations Market Housing Fund Trustee Opportunity 
c/o Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 
700 Montreal Road, Suite 1000 
Ottawa, ON K1A OP7

or email to: FNMHFOpportunities@cmhc-schl.gc.ca

This is not intended to be the sole means of recruitment.

Notice regarding privacy: Personal information will be treated in accordance with applicable federal privacy legislation.  
The selection process may include consultations with third parties who may discuss applications further with others. 
Accordingly, confidentiality cannot be assured. 

First Nations Market Housing Fund

Expanding Your Housing Options
Financing for First Nations Communities
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The Mohawks of the Bay of 
Quinte (MBQ) Success Story
In August 2018, the Board of Trustees held its meeting in 
Tyendinaga Mohawk Territory. The Mohawks of the Bay 
of Quinte (MBQ) is in southern Ontario approximately 
250 kilometres east of Toronto and 250 kilometres 
southwest of Ottawa. The Mohawks of the Bay of 
Quinte is the official band name, and the name of 
the reserve is Tyendinaga Mohawk Territory (TMT).

MBQ instituted a revolving housing loan program in 
1974. The program was successful, but the demand 
has far exceeded the available budget. In addition to 
this program, a renovation program was added. MBQ, 
in partnership with the Fund, has further expanded 
its housing options for members requiring assistance 
to build, buy, renovate or rent a home on TMT. 

Benefits included improved housing and job creation 
through renovations, and lower cost financing for MBQ 
home owners. At the end of 2018, there were 75 Fund-
backed loans in place. The Trustees enjoyed seeing first 
hand the many Fund-backed homes in the community.

Following the Trustees first day of meeting, Chief 
Don Maracle and Tom Kring, Senior Housing 
Manager, led a tour of the community. 

The tour also included a visit to Christ Church, Her 
Majesty’s Royal Chapel of the Mohawks. The Church 
is one of six Royal chapels outside of Great Britain and 
is of great historic significance to the Mohawk people 
and to the colonial history of Canada. The structure was 
built by the Mohawks in 1843 and houses a number 
of gifts given to the Mohawks by the Royal Family over 
the last three centuries to commemorate the political 
and military alliance between the Mohawks and the 
British Crown. This military alliance defended and 
preserved the lands that ultimately became Canada.

In the evening, the Trustees and staff attended a 
community feast and enjoyed entertainment provided 
by local performers. Travis Seymour, Director, Finance 
and Administration joined in the performance.

Spreading the Word
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Engaging Partners and 
Thought Leadership
Market-based housing is recognized as a necessary 
component of any long-term effective approach to 
meeting the current and future housing needs of 
Indigenous peoples in Canada. The First Nations Market 
Housing Fund is the only national mechanism dedicated 
to home ownership in First Nations communities. The 
Fund is an established and readily available means to 
ensure that the commitment to market-based home 
ownership opportunities is further entrenched and 
enhanced within the Indigenous approach. The Fund’s 
expertise was sought by organizations across Canada. 

In addition to a Trustee attending the Fund’s regional 
engagement sessions, the Chairperson and Vice-
Chairperson of the Trustees and the Executive Director 
attended and/or presented at various meetings 
throughout the year to contribute input to the National 
Housing Strategy and On-Reserve Housing Reform 
discussions. The Fund also provided a report to the 
Government of Canada outlining how the Government 
can strengthen its approach to provide home-ownership 
opportunities for Indigenous peoples by reaffirming its 
commitment to the First Nations Market Housing Fund.  

The Chair and Vice-Chair hosted an engagement 
session with leadership from a number of First Nations 
partners during the AFN AGA in Vancouver, B.C. 
and again in Toronto, ON to consider the input and 
many recommendations put forth at the regional 
engagement sessions. The Trustees and leadership 
were able to identify priorities in considering new 
approaches to reform and strengthen the governance 
and service delivery approaches of the Fund. 

Our expertise continued to be sought in the planning 
of multiple conferences, workshops and strategic 
planning events throughout 2018. The invitation to 
participate in such events was often accompanied 
by an invitation to present or participate on a panel. 
Each opportunity was leveraged as a means to 
develop a relationship with new First Nation clients, 
obtain feedback and improve our service.

The Fund attended/presented and/or hosted information 
booths at the following conferences during 2018: 

• First Nations Housing Conference (Thunder Bay)

• Dakota Ojibway Tribal Council (Winnipeg)

• Ktunaxa Nation (?Aqam)

• ANTCO First Nations Housing Forum (Kamloops)

• AFN Special Chiefs Assembly (Gatineau)

• Anishinabek Nation Assembly (Fort William First Nation)

• AFOA Saskatchewan (Saskatoon)

• Chiefs of Ontario (Nipissing First Nation)

• NAN Chiefs Assembly (Chapleau Cree First Nation)

• Assembly of First Nations (AFN) Annual 
General Assembly (Vancouver)

• OFNTSC All Tribal Council Meeting (Niagara Falls)

• AFOA Canada 2018 National Conference (Ottawa)

• AFN National Housing and Infrastructure 
Forum and Trade Show (Vancouver)

• CANDO - 25th Annual National 
Conference & AGM (Enoch)

• AFOA Atlantic Fall Conference (Halifax)

• AFNQL Regional Meeting (Quebec City)

• Assembly of First Nations Special 
Chiefs Assembly (Ottawa)

In February, Deborah Taylor, Executive Director and 
Nelson Lepine, Director of Finance and Infrastructure 
at Carcross Tagish First Nation presented at the 
ANTCO Housing Forum. Senior staff attended the 
Anishinabek Nation Assembly in June at Fort William 
First Nation. In July, the Chair and staff attended the 
AFN Annual General Assembly (AGA) in Vancouver. 

Deborah Taylor, Executive Director presented Partnerships 
in Action with Wes Wirth, Executive Manager for the Teslin 
Tlingit Council at the 2018 CANDO Conference in Enoch, 
Alberta. Teslin Tlingit Council was the first Yukon First 
Nation to guarantee home loans backed by the Fund and 
has used the Fund’s capacity building extensively in areas 
supporting the advancement of economic development.

In October, the Fund was the proud water sponsor at the 
AFOA Canada 19th National Conference held in Ottawa, 
ON. Fund staff and more than 60 staff and leaders from 10 
partnering First Nations sponsored by the Fund attended 
the many workshops offered during the Conference 
to enhance their professional development. The Fund 
hosted a session entitled Building Capacity – Our Strength 
Comes from Within where Sharon Stevenson French of 
Peguis and Stacy McNeil of Seabird Island each told their 
story, building in the incorporation of Indigenous culture, 
values and teachings to their respective success. They 
described the lengths they had each gone to personally 
and the experiences they had lived while embracing 
their culture and ensuring its rightful place in the various 
communities and institutions they have both served over 
the years. Deborah Taylor, Executive Director, moderated 
the session – The Impact of Marijuana Legislation on 
the Indigenous Workplace – a topic that has become 
important in the Fund’s capacity development work, with 
respect to both housing and human resource policies.

Spreading the Word
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Carcross/Tagish First Nation
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Our First Nations Partners

“I value each opportunity 
when working with First 
Nations throughout Canada.  
Developing individual 
home ownership on reserve 
and on settlement lands 
have many challengers, 
however when working with 
housing, administration, and 
leadership teams at each 
community, it is exciting 
to see implementation of 
this program and market 
housing created.”
Gail Joe, Capacity Development Provider

“Helping First Nation people 
achieve home ownership 
through personal finance and 
credit counselling sessions 
has been a very rewarding 
experience. I look forward 
to continuing to work with 
First Nations in developing 
home ownership programs 
for their members.”
Scott Flamand, Capacity Development Provider

Moving Forward Together, the Fund proudly announced 
4 new partnerships in 2018 that will strengthen and 
expand the emerging First Nations market-based housing 
system and the Fund’s footprint in British Columbia.
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First Nations Partners Announced in 2018

First Nations Partners Announced Over the Years

Yukon

Saskatchewan

Alberta Manitoba

Katzie First Nation

Champagne Aishihik 
First Nations (2011)

Lac La Ronge Indian Band (2009)

Siksika Nation (2012) Fisher River Cree Nation (2015)

Kispiox Band

Carcross/Tagish First Nation (2013)

Onion Lake Cree Nation (2009)

Long Plain First Nation (2015)

K’omoks First Nation

Kwanlin Dün First Nation (2015)

Flying Dust First Nation (2013)

TSAL’ALH

Tr’ondëk Hwëch’in (2016) Teslin Tlingit Council (2016)
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British Columbia

Seabird Island Band (2009)

Tsawout First Nation (2013)

Nooaitch Indian Band (2015)

Penticton Indian Band (2012)

Upper Nicola Band (2014)

Skwah First Nation (2015)

Tsartlip First Nation (2016)

?aq’am St. Mary’s Indian Band (2010) 

Lower Nicola Indian Band (2014)

Penelakut Tribe (2015)

T’it’q’et First Nation (2012)

Halalt First Nation (2015)

Little Shuswap Lake Indian Band (2016)

Kwantlen First Nation (2017)

Tk’emlups Indian Band (2010

Okanagan Indian Band (2014)

Sechelt Indian Band (2015)

Adams Lake Indian Band (2013)

Lake Cowichan First Nation (2015)

Quatsino First Nation (2016)

Nuxalk Nation (2017)

Neskonlith Indian Band (2011)

Simpcw First Nation (2014)

Skeetchestn Indian Band (2015)

Malahat First Nation (2013)

Leq’á:mél First Nation (2015)

Skidegate Band Council (2016)

Skowkale First Nation (2017)
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Ontario

Batchewana First Nation (2009)

Mattagami First Nation (2017)

Whitefish River First Nation (2011)

Ojibways of Pic River First Nation (2013)

Sagamok Anishnawbek (2010)

Wasauksing First Nation (2017)

Curve Lake First Nation (2013)

Chippewas of Nawash Unceded First 
Nation (2014)

Atikameksheng Anishnawbek (2010)

Mohawk Council 
of Akwesasne (2017)

Nipissing First Nation (2012)

Temagami First Nation (2013)

Serpent River First Nation (2010)

Henvey Inlet First Nation (2013)

Garden River First Nation (2014)

Hiawatha First Nation (2010)

Saugeen First Nation (2017)

Wikwemikong 
Unceded Indian Reserve (2012)

Wahnapitae First Nation (2013)

M’Chigeeng First Nation (2011)

Lac Seul First Nation (2013)

Alderville First Nation (2015)

Moose Cree First Nation (2010)

Wahta Mohawks (2017)

Beausoleil First Nation (2013)

Aundeck Omni Kaning First Nation (2014)

Mississauga First Nation (2011)

Mohawks of the Bay of Quinte (2013)

Chapleau Cree First Nation (2017)
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Newfoundland & LabradorNova Scotia

Quebec

Prince Edward Island

Lennox Island First Nation (2017) Miawpukek First Nation (2008)Membertou (2009)

Cree Nation of Eastmain (2013)

Cree Nation of Mistissini (2017)

Cree Nation of Waswanipi (2013) Cree Nation of Wemindji (2013) Cree Nation of Chisasibi (2014)
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Getting to Know our Newest Partners

Kispiox Band
Kispiox Band is situated within the Gitksan Territory 
fifteen kilometres on the Kispiox Valley Road north of 
Hazelton at the junction of the Kispiox and Skeena 
Rivers. The size of the community is 1650 acres. 
Kispiox is surrounded by mountains and rivers which 
create a spectacular landscape that is breathtaking. 

Anspayaxw translates to “People of the Hiding Place”, 
the community of Kispiox is one of six ancient Gitksan 
communities which exist today in the area. Kispiox is 
estimated to be about 3,000 years old, having existed, 
like several other villages, since the time the population 
was dispersed from the ancient city of Txemlax’amid 
by a disaster. Archaeological and oral history evidence 
indicate that the Gitksan occupied the valley of the 
Ksan or Skeena River following the last ice age about 
10,000 years ago. Villages have been found and 
abandoned throughout Gitksan history. The last two 
villages to relocate were Kuldo’o and Gisga’g’as; they 
moved to Kispiox and Gitanmaax. Today, there are 7 
First Nation communities within Gitksan territory.

Kispiox Band is governed by an elected body consisting 
of nine Councillors and one Chief Councillor. The 
Kispiox Band Office staff consists of fifteen permanent 
full-time employees, two machine operators, casual 
laborer’s and seasonal sylvicultural crews.

Kispiox Band has a total membership of 1,646 
members as of May 31, 2018 – 584 reside on-
reserve and 1,062 members reside off-reserve.

“On behalf of Kispiox Band, I 
am grateful for all of the work 
that the staff of FNMHF have 
carried out thus far. Having 
been assessed and approved 
for Credit Enhancement 
is very beneficial to the 
community. Partnering with 
the First Nations Market 
Housing Fund has increased 
accessibility to lower interest 
rates from the various 
banking institutes associated 
with this FNMHF program.

The on-going support through 
the Capacity Development 
program that is offered 
through the FNMHF, for 
the development of staff 
and council has been an 
excellent opportunity 
to increase the skills, 
knowledge, and autonomy 
of the Kispiox Band.”
Chief Louise Johnson
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K’ómoks First Nation
K’ómoks First Nation (KFN) is a small community comprised 
of Kwakwaka’wakw and Northern Coast Salish tribes of 
British Columbia, nestled between the Town of Comox and 
City of Courtenay on Vancouver Island. Nearly one-third 
of K’ómoks’ over 330 members live in the community.

KFN has four separate reserves, including Comox IR 
#1, Puntledge IR#2, and Goose Spit IR#3 and Sayward 
#1 for a total land base of approximately 2,807 
hectares. This land base may change significantly 
as a large amount of land is under consideration by 
K’ómoks who is currently in the Treaty process. 

KFN’s IR# 1 includes 82 homes owned by community 
members with 2 duplexes that are Band-owned and 
rented out to community members. It is the only area 
of lands under First Nation jurisdiction that provides 
housing for community members. The Nation’s housing 
department, supported by a housing committee, 
oversees housing administration programs including 
home ownership and encourage community members to 
move and live on Reserve.  Recently, KFN, in partnership 
with the Fund, expanded housing possibilities for 
eligible members who desire to own a home in their 
own community. KFN is currently developing a new 
subdivision which will add approximately 27 housing 
lots, in phases, for members to build new homes.

This latest endeavor supports the vision of all KFN 
members, which states, “K’ómoks First Nation is 
a prosperous and healthy community where each 
member has the right to self-sufficiency”. 

“Comox” is an anglicization of K’ómoks, which 
is derived from the Kwakw’ala term, kw’umalha, 
meaning “plentiful, rich, wealthy”.

“K’ómoks First Nation’s Chief 
and Council are pleased to 
work with the FNMHF to 
provide opportunities for 
our members with regard 
to housing. FNMHF makes 
it possible for members to 
build their homes and move 
back to our community, 
which is a goal of our nation 
as set out by our members 
in our comprehensive 
community plan.”
Chief Nicole Rempel
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Katzie First Nation
The Katzie First Nation (KFN) has a membership of almost 
600 with half of the members living on 3 reserves. The 
main community borders the City of Pitt Meadows, BC 
on the north bank of the Fraser River. The First Nation 
has been recognized regionally and nationally for its 
efforts in partnering with the City of Pitt Meadows for 
municipal services and relationship building. The majority 
of members who live on reserve work off reserve.

There are approximately 120 homes on reserve with 
most homes being privately owned, with Certificates 
of Possession. There are also a number of rent-to-own 
arrangements and some rental units. The Housing 
Department is overseen by an elected councillor as 
their primary portfolio, who works collaboratively 
with Chief and Council and the administration to 
ensure a fair and equitable approach to housing for 
the community on all 3 reserves.  As a certified Land 
Code Band, Katzie will now be issuing Certificates of 
Permanent Interest and developing laws and policies 
to support certainty of ownership and land tenure. 

Katzie is actively working with the Fund to increase 
housing options on reserve, build staff capacity, strengthen 
laws and policies with an emphasis on housing and 
lands, and to support member awareness initiatives 
such as wills and estates training that will lead to 
greater self-reliance and protect member interests.

“Katzie First Nation is growing 
rapidly and we are so happy 
to be able to extend this 
prospect of home ownership 
to our membership so 
they can continue to build 
capacity while addressing 
housing needs. This 
enhancement brings an 
aspect of sustainability and 
we are looking forward to 
building this relationship 
with the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund.”
Chief Grace Cunningham
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Tsal’alh Band
St’át’imc - Tsal’alhmec, The People of the Lake (Tsal’alh 
Membership), that have lived and thrived along the lake 
since time immemorial, are located in a semi-isolated, 
remote area at the most central/northern point of the 
St’át’imc Territory along the shores of Seton and Anderson 
Lake. As one of the 11 St’át’imc communities within the 
St’át’imc Territory they have always had a close relationship 
with the land and collective stewardship responsibility that 
is very important to the Tsal’alhmec. They understand and 
respectfully acknowledge the legacy that their ancestors 
have left them, and with their guidance they will continue 
to live their culture and traditions for generations to come. 

Today as St’at’imc - Tsal’alhmec membership is about 700 
and growing strong, with approximately 320 members who 
live on reserve. The community has its own pre-school, 
elementary school, high school, health centre, fire hall and 
an elder’s lodge. They also have a gas bar, RV Park, Hotel, 
sawmill, and produce many fine arts and crafts, in addition 
to being the main Internet Service Provider in the area.

Tsal’alh is very busy in developing a new band office, 
additions to school, daycare facility, housing and 
infrastructure. The Nation’s housing portfolio consists 
of approximately 60 houses being rented, and about 50 
band-member owned homes. Because of the increase 
in demand for housing, alternatives are currently being 
explored such as row housing, in-law suites and single-
family units. Tsal`alh is looking forward to working 
with the Fund as they advance their plans for these 
initiatives, to provide safe, affordable, innovative, 
comfortable homes that Tsal’alhmec can be proud of.

“There is no place like home, 
and to have a home brings 
security and comfort to 
everyone. A home brings 
long lasting, caring and 
happy memories. We 
are not just building 
houses, we are creating 
homes for Tsal’alhmec.”
Chief Ida Mary Peter
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Our Reach

Close to 40 per cent of First Nations in Canada have now chosen to partner with the Fund.

Total First Nations# of Partnered First Nations % of Partnered First Nations

Yukon
9

64%
14

NWT
2

7%
29

British Columbia
94

46%
203

Alberta
18

38%
48

Saskatchewan
15

19%
77

Manitoba
16

25%
63

Ontario
65

49%
134

Quebec
14

35%
40

Atlantic
14

40%
35

Total number of First Nations in each province/territory source: Assembly of First Nations, October 2018.
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A Financial Snapshot
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$964 million

6600 homes
in potential credit approved to support an estimated

$360.4 million
Total assets as of 2018

$300 million
Original investment still held in Trust

152
meetings achieving efficiencies in time and cost

121
trips across the country

$261, 790
spent on staff travel in 2018

$2,164 per trip
approximately

Tr
av

el

12 Lenders

$2.5 million
spent on capacity development in 2018
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In 2018, the Fund secured 10 applications from First 
Nations, falling below the planned target of 20 by ten. 
Considering that the Fund has been in operations for more 
than ten years by the end of 2018 and already had received 
applications from 247 of the 643 First Nations (38 percent) 
in Canada, it is not unreasonable to expect slightly fewer 
First Nations to apply to the Fund on an annual basis.

As shown in the chart below, in the early years of the 
Fund, there was pent-up demand from First Nations 
to take advantage of this potential new form of on-
reserve home ownership for their members. The number 
of new applications peaked in 2014 reaching 50.

Although the number of new applications has been in 
decline, the Fund’s inventory of applications under review 
has been growing as the Fund continues to work with 
existing applicants to help them qualify for the Fund’s 
programs. It is expected that applications approved for 
CE and CD will surpass new applications in the future.

There is also the unanticipated length of time required 
to get First Nations to accept the Fund as an alternative 
form of financing home ownership on reserve and, once 
approved, the time required to educate citizens on the 
many aspects of home ownership. The Fund’s experience 
has been that many individuals applying for loans are 
turned down until they address credit issues, which takes 
time. The Fund engaged in multiple regional sessions 
in 2018 to gather valuable feedback from First Nations 
communities on how the Fund can better assist them on 
building capacity and awareness of home ownership.

From the start of the fund (2008) up until December 
2018, a total of 247 applications have been received. 
From that total, 114 applications were approved for Credit 
Enhancement and Capacity Development, 87 applications 
were approved for Capacity Building only, and a further 
46 applications were under review. Based on the results 
up to the end of 2018, 57 per cent of the applications 
assessed (114 out of 201) qualified for Credit Enhancement 
and Capacity Development. Of the remaining 43 per 

Management Discussion and Analysis

The Fund’s vision statement is “Every First Nation family 
has the opportunity to have a home on their own land 
in a strong community.” The Fund’s commitment is to 
facilitate access to financing for market-based housing in 
First Nations communities and build the capacity of First 
Nations to support the ongoing administration of market-
based housing programs. The Fund accomplishes this 
through core business activities. A summary of the 2018 
performance measures and the results are presented herein. 
The performance measures noted herein are those of the 
2018 Business Plan, which was approved by the Minister.

Objective 1.0: Implement the 
Credit Enhancement Facility
The Credit Enhancement Facility was established 
to provide additional security to backstop on-
reserve  housing loan programs. This facility supports 
First Nations to establish on-reserve housing 
loan programs with participating lenders.

The security provided by the Credit Enhancement 
Facility means that lenders may be willing to 
offer loans on more favorable terms than they 
would in the absence of the facility. 

This facility provides assurances to third-party lenders 
and insurers that repayment of financing arranged 
for housing by a qualified First Nation community will 
be honored up to the limit of the agreed-upon Credit 
Enhancement (CE) in the event that a First Nation fails to 
fulfil its responsibility for the repayment of a loan default.

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan 

2018 Results

• 11 new qualified First Nations for CD 
with CE 

• 9 new qualified First Nations for CD 
only

• 13 First Nations assisted by CD funds 
become eligible for CE

• Tangible new strength demonstrated 
in the community as a result of CD 
funding

• CD funding commitments provided to 
First Nation communities

• New tools and materials developed to 
respond to a particular need

• 1 new qualified First Nation
for CD with CE

• 4 new qualified First Nations
for CD only

• 1 First Nation assisted by CD funds 
become eligible for CE

• Land use planning was completed in 
a number of communities, paving the 
way for informed development, 
including residential construction

• During the year, $2,511,203 was 
spent towards CD. Additional 
commitments of approximately 
$900,000 were outstanding at 
year-end for work yet to be completed

• Matrimonial Real Property Laws 
reflecting cultural norms were 
developed and ratified in some 
communities

Year
Budget per
the Minister ($)

2008* 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

0 

1,547,000 

2,792,412 

1,485,000 

2,727,000 

3,577,500 

3,834,000 

3,888,000 

3,888,000 

3,800,000 

4,000,000 

31,538,912

Actual Amount
Spent on CD ($) 

0 

2,500 

183,382 

1,022,903 

2,041,603 

2,880,541 

5,404,490 

4,476,964 

1,482,172 

1,277,564 

2,511,203

21,283,322

Increase (Decrease)
in Actual Spending
Compared to Prior Year ($) 

n/a 

2,500 

180,882 

839,521 

1,018,700 

838,938 

2,523,949 

(927,526) 

(2,994,792) 

(204,608) 

1,233,639
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Objectives Activities

• To support First Nations establishing 
on-reserve housing loan programs

• To support First Nations achieving 
favorable terms and conditions in 
on-reserve housing loan programs

• To identify lenders for on-reserve
housing loans

• To effectively administer the Fund 
including timely reporting, processing, 
and payment of claims

• Marketing and communications

• Business development services

• Selection of eligible lenders

• Qualification and selection of
eligible First Nations

• Compliance monitoring and 
evaluation

• Creating and providing reports

• Processing and payment of claims

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• 20 new applications

• 24 new qualified First Nations

• 821 loans approved

• 10 new applications

• 2 new qualified First Nations

• 46 loans approved

Objectives Activities

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development efforts so that they
can access and sustain the Credit 
Enhancement Facility 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development. To be specific support 
capacity development efforts for:
› Leadership 
› Administration
› Citizens 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development to address 
non-performing loans 

• Developing and providing marketing 
and communications tools to increase 
awareness and participation 

• Approving use of CD funding for
First Nations 

• Working with eligible First Nations
to create CD Plans 

• Identifying products and qualified 
consultants to meet CD needs 

• Prioritizing disbursement and use
of CD funding in accordance with
the CD Plans

• Providing ongoing monitoring and 
evaluation to ensure compliance
with terms and conditions 

• Creating and providing reports with 
respect to activities

• Developing new CD tools that are 
consistent with First Nation needs

• Expanding existing relationships, 
partnerships and agreements

• Establish a public policy oriented 
“think tank” function to draw on
and share lessons learned

Application Received Approved for CE Approved for CD Under Review

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan 

2018 Results

• 11 new qualified First Nations for CD 
with CE 

• 9 new qualified First Nations for CD 
only

• 13 First Nations assisted by CD funds 
become eligible for CE

• Tangible new strength demonstrated 
in the community as a result of CD 
funding

• CD funding commitments provided to 
First Nation communities

• New tools and materials developed to 
respond to a particular need

• 1 new qualified First Nation
for CD with CE

• 4 new qualified First Nations
for CD only

• 1 First Nation assisted by CD funds 
become eligible for CE

• Land use planning was completed in 
a number of communities, paving the 
way for informed development, 
including residential construction

• During the year, $2,511,203 was 
spent towards CD. Additional 
commitments of approximately 
$900,000 were outstanding at 
year-end for work yet to be completed

• Matrimonial Real Property Laws 
reflecting cultural norms were 
developed and ratified in some 
communities
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• To support First Nations establishing 
on-reserve housing loan programs

• To support First Nations achieving 
favorable terms and conditions in 
on-reserve housing loan programs

• To identify lenders for on-reserve
housing loans

• To effectively administer the Fund 
including timely reporting, processing, 
and payment of claims

• Marketing and communications

• Business development services

• Selection of eligible lenders

• Qualification and selection of
eligible First Nations

• Compliance monitoring and 
evaluation

• Creating and providing reports

• Processing and payment of claims

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• 20 new applications

• 24 new qualified First Nations

• 821 loans approved

• 10 new applications

• 2 new qualified First Nations

• 46 loans approved

Objectives Activities

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development efforts so that they
can access and sustain the Credit 
Enhancement Facility 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development. To be specific support 
capacity development efforts for:
› Leadership 
› Administration
› Citizens 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development to address 
non-performing loans 

• Developing and providing marketing 
and communications tools to increase 
awareness and participation 

• Approving use of CD funding for
First Nations 

• Working with eligible First Nations
to create CD Plans 

• Identifying products and qualified 
consultants to meet CD needs 

• Prioritizing disbursement and use
of CD funding in accordance with
the CD Plans

• Providing ongoing monitoring and 
evaluation to ensure compliance
with terms and conditions 

• Creating and providing reports with 
respect to activities

• Developing new CD tools that are 
consistent with First Nation needs

• Expanding existing relationships, 
partnerships and agreements

• Establish a public policy oriented 
“think tank” function to draw on
and share lessons learned

Application Received Approved for CE Approved for CD Under Review
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cent, all were approved for Capacity Development (CD). 
Out of the applications originally qualified for CD, only 
6 had gone on to qualify for CE. This shows how much 
time and commitment are involved from all parties to 
achieve the level of capacity required to qualify for CE.

Prior to 2018, the Fund had approved a potential of 
$943 million for Housing Loan Guarantee Credits. At the 
end of 2018, the potential figure was $964 million – an 
increase of $21 million or 2 percent. During 2018, the 
Fund provided 46 partial loan guarantees to third-party 
lenders under the Credit Enhancement Facility for 46 
homes, bringing the accumulated total to 257 partial loan 
guarantees for 297 homes. At December 31, 2018, the 
total value of the loans was $49.9 million, of which the 
Fund is guaranteeing a maximum of 10 percent, or $4.99 
million. Based on the actual number of loans issued thus 
far, an average of 12 homes per community is forecast 
per year at $150,000 per loan. This figure compares to an 
average of 58 homes per community at $145,000 per loan 
in determining the total ask of $964 million. Although the 
level of loan activity per First Nation is less than the total 
number of requests from qualified First Nations, the rate of 
progress is up to the members of the First Nation. As noted 
above, many prospective homeowners are addressing credit 
issues, as well as saving the required down payment.

In 2018, the Fund continued to focus specific resources 
on First Nations that were closest to being operational 
under the Credit Enhancement Program. This has 
allowed for increased support in those communities that 
are determined to advance market-based housing.

Objective 2.0: Deliver Capacity 
Development Program
The Fund has established a Capacity Development 
(CD) program which provides funding for First Nations 
communities that meet or are close to meeting the 
Fund’s criteria for the Credit Enhancement Facility but 
have areas which could be strengthened or improved. 

To implement and sustain a market-based housing program 
in any community, several factors must align, including: a 
strong, stable government; a governance framework that 
includes legislation, policies and processes that enable 
housing development; professionals who can carry out and 
communicate the Government’s directions; and education, 
business and health services. Residents must have 
confidence that they have services at their disposal to meet 
their family’s needs. Employment turnover regularly occurs 
through promotion and retirements. Job training is required 
to keep skills current and train incoming employees so that 
the system continues to function. This can be especially 

challenging in smaller or more remote communities where 
access to a smaller pool of expertise can be an issue.

Funding for Capacity Development supports the provision 
of training, advice and coaching which focuses on 
improving market-based housing capacity for qualified 
First Nations and members of these communities. The 
maximum budget available in any given year for the 
Capacity Development Program shall not exceed 50 
percent of the preceding year’s net income, which 
is calculated as investment revenue less expenses. 
Any unexpended amounts at the end of each year 
may be carried forward to be spent in subsequent 
years as approved in the annual Business Plans.

In working with 131 communities on capacity development 
in over 1,200 initiatives (to the end of 2018), the Fund has 
developed in excess of 800 products to serve First Nations 
and their unique needs. This is a shining example of how 
our First Nations organization has taken a leadership role 
in working to build capacity for home ownership within 
First Nations communities. This approach is also helping 
the Fund to stretch its Capacity Development funding, 
although it is not in itself enough. While using existing 
products may seem like a reasonable approach, these 
products will not always work for First Nations that may 
find themselves in a different circumstance than the 
First Nation for whom the initial product was developed. 
Products still need to be customized to meet the unique 
needs of each First Nation and training is vitally important 
at the leadership, administrative and citizen level to 
implement policy and procedural changes. Wherever 
feasible, the Fund seeks other partners to support capacity 
development initiatives with financial resources or in-kind. 

The Fund has undertaken research in the critical 
factors that support sustainable homeownership in 
First Nations communities and will use the results 
of this research, as well as feedback from the 
2018 regional sessions, to modify the approach to 
Capacity Development in 2019 and beyond.

The Fund is anticipating increased demand for Capacity 
Development services from those already approved as 
well as from more First Nations who decide to apply and 
participate. The need for the Fund’s continued Capacity 
Development support has been heard at each regional 
engagement session held in 2018. Participants in the 
sessions note that leadership changes, demographics 
within a community change, changes of personnel in 
key staffing positions occur, the housing stock profile 
within a community also changes. As First Nations 
communities evolve, increased demand is putting upward 
pressure on costs for Capacity Development services. 
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Since Capacity Development services are funded by 
investment income and given the conservative nature 
of our Statement of Investment Policy (SIP), there 
will be pressure to “do more with less.” The Fund is 
seeking to continue to be self-sustaining and is not 
seeking additional federal dollars. The Fund continues 
to lobby the funder to amend the SIP and to improve 
investment results. Based on feedback from First Nations, 

the message is clear: ‘the Fund needs to continue to 
support Capacity Development over the long term’.

The Fund has qualified consultants available to assist First 
Nations communities meet their goals. They have been 
assessed and have met the Fund’s consultant criteria. As 
noted earlier, one of the communities that were previously 
approved for CD only in 2017 qualified for CE in 2018. 
This is a rare case as the Fund’s experience has been that it 
takes many years for communities approved for CD only to 
subsequently qualify for CE. The difference in the amount 
of time it took for each community to qualify for CE 
reflects the complexity and how quickly each community 
tackled the elements needed to demonstrate its readiness 
to introduce and sustain a market-based housing program. 

The 2018 CD expenditures of $2.5M exceeded those 
in 2017 by $1.2M or 97 percent. In 2017, there was 
more Federal Government funding available to First 

Nations which helped to meet their needs and took 
some of the pressure off the Fund. In 2018, the level 
of CD expenditures has started to increase again.

It should be noted that the Fund is self-sustaining. 
The capacity development is fully funded from income 
earned from the investment of a $300-million capital 
contribution by the Federal Government to establish the 
Fund. There is no additional federal money provided.

Capacity Development funding for all but tuition is 
only advanced when the products are prepared and 
accepted by the Fund and the First Nation. This process, 
which assures a high-quality product, directly affects 
the cash outflow in a given year. A summary of the 
Capacity Development activity in 2018 is as follows:

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan 

2018 Results

• 11 new qualified First Nations for CD 
with CE 

• 9 new qualified First Nations for CD 
only

• 13 First Nations assisted by CD funds 
become eligible for CE

• Tangible new strength demonstrated 
in the community as a result of CD 
funding

• CD funding commitments provided to 
First Nation communities

• New tools and materials developed to 
respond to a particular need

• 1 new qualified First Nation
for CD with CE

• 4 new qualified First Nations
for CD only

• 1 First Nation assisted by CD funds 
become eligible for CE

• Land use planning was completed in 
a number of communities, paving the 
way for informed development, 
including residential construction

• During the year, $2,511,203 was 
spent towards CD. Additional 
commitments of approximately 
$900,000 were outstanding at 
year-end for work yet to be completed

• Matrimonial Real Property Laws 
reflecting cultural norms were 
developed and ratified in some 
communities

Year
Budget per
the Minister ($)

2008* 

2009 

2010 

2011 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

0 

1,547,000 

2,792,412 

1,485,000 

2,727,000 

3,577,500 

3,834,000 

3,888,000 

3,888,000 

3,800,000 

4,000,000 

31,538,912

Actual Amount
Spent on CD ($) 

0 

2,500 

183,382 

1,022,903 

2,041,603 

2,880,541 

5,404,490 

4,476,964 

1,482,172 

1,277,564 

2,511,203

21,283,322

Increase (Decrease)
in Actual Spending
Compared to Prior Year ($) 

n/a 

2,500 

180,882 

839,521 

1,018,700 

838,938 

2,523,949 

(927,526) 

(2,994,792) 

(204,608) 

1,233,639
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Objectives Activities

• To support First Nations establishing 
on-reserve housing loan programs

• To support First Nations achieving 
favorable terms and conditions in 
on-reserve housing loan programs

• To identify lenders for on-reserve
housing loans

• To effectively administer the Fund 
including timely reporting, processing, 
and payment of claims

• Marketing and communications

• Business development services

• Selection of eligible lenders

• Qualification and selection of
eligible First Nations

• Compliance monitoring and 
evaluation

• Creating and providing reports

• Processing and payment of claims

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• 20 new applications

• 24 new qualified First Nations

• 821 loans approved

• 10 new applications

• 2 new qualified First Nations

• 46 loans approved

Objectives Activities

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development efforts so that they
can access and sustain the Credit 
Enhancement Facility 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development. To be specific support 
capacity development efforts for:
› Leadership 
› Administration
› Citizens 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development to address 
non-performing loans 

• Developing and providing marketing 
and communications tools to increase 
awareness and participation 

• Approving use of CD funding for
First Nations 

• Working with eligible First Nations
to create CD Plans 

• Identifying products and qualified 
consultants to meet CD needs 

• Prioritizing disbursement and use
of CD funding in accordance with
the CD Plans

• Providing ongoing monitoring and 
evaluation to ensure compliance
with terms and conditions 

• Creating and providing reports with 
respect to activities

• Developing new CD tools that are 
consistent with First Nation needs

• Expanding existing relationships, 
partnerships and agreements

• Establish a public policy oriented 
“think tank” function to draw on
and share lessons learned

Application Received Approved for CE Approved for CD Under Review
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• 10 new applications

• 2 new qualified First Nations

• 46 loans approved

Objectives Activities

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development efforts so that they
can access and sustain the Credit 
Enhancement Facility 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development. To be specific support 
capacity development efforts for:
› Leadership 
› Administration
› Citizens 

• To support First Nation Capacity 
Development to address 
non-performing loans 

• Developing and providing marketing 
and communications tools to increase 
awareness and participation 

• Approving use of CD funding for
First Nations 

• Working with eligible First Nations
to create CD Plans 

• Identifying products and qualified 
consultants to meet CD needs 

• Prioritizing disbursement and use
of CD funding in accordance with
the CD Plans

• Providing ongoing monitoring and 
evaluation to ensure compliance
with terms and conditions 

• Creating and providing reports with 
respect to activities

• Developing new CD tools that are 
consistent with First Nation needs

• Expanding existing relationships, 
partnerships and agreements

• Establish a public policy oriented 
“think tank” function to draw on
and share lessons learned
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• 12 consultants signed contracts for 
CD work at 25 First Nations.

• Four group trainers provided CD 
training at five First Nations.

• 21 learning institutions provided training 
for 71 initiatives at 33 First Nations.

Going into 2019, the Fund is carrying forward a balance of 
$8,111,064 available for Capacity Development spending 
in subsequent years. The amount that can be spent in 2019 
will be subject to the Minister’s approval. Any unexpended 
amounts at the end of 2019 may be carried forward to be 
spent in subsequent years if approved in the Business Plan.

Objective 3.0: Effectively 
Manage Investment Services
Investment guidelines from the Department of Finance 
define how funds from upfront contributions from the 
Government of Canada, including the contribution received 
by the Fund, may be invested. These guidelines require 
the development of a Statement of Investment Policy and 
Investment Strategy on an annual basis. The Statement of 
Investment Policy limits the types of investment vehicles 
permitted. Given the current low interest rate environment, 
the Fund’s yield on its investments have steadily declined 
from 3.55% at the end of 2010 when the Fund’s portfolio 
became fully invested to the following yields below:

During 2018, the Fund with its Investment Manager and 
other investment professionals has explored the risks 
and opportunities associated with investing in corporate 
bonds to complement its existing portfolio. Although 
higher risk is associated with corporate bonds, there is 
also potential for higher returns to address decreasing 
yield in the Fund’s portfolio. The Trustees proposed a 
state of the art Statement of Investment Policy (SIP) which 
included actively managed corporate bonds but that SIP 
was rejected by the Funder. The Trustees have reluctantly 

accepted a revised SIP which allows for inclusion of 
corporate bonds to a maximum of 33% of the Fund’s 
laddered portfolio. By the end of the 2018, the Funder 
approved the revised SIP and as such the Fund restructured 
its bond laddered portfolio in the beginning of 2019. 

The Fund will continue to examine all possible alternatives 
to increase revenues in a safe way, compliant with 
the Minister of Finance framework going forward.

In 2018, all investment activity was conducted in 
accordance with the requirements of the Fund’s 
Statement of Investment Policy and the Fund’s 
Investment Strategy, both of which are revisited 
annually. Investment income in 2018 was sufficient to 
provide for both administrative expenses and funding 
for Capacity Development requirements in 2018.

4.00%

3.50%

3.00%

2.50%

2.00%

1.50%

1.00%

0.50%

0.00%
2009     2010     2011     2012     2013     2014     2015     2016     2017     2018     2019

3.55% 3.54% 3.47% 3.46% 3.41%
3.28% 3.13%

2.99% 2.82%

Yield

Objectives Activities

• Maintain sufficient liquidity in order 
to meet business requirements

• Preserve and grow capital to maintain 
and expand the capacity of the Fund 
to carry out its core activities

• Invest assets in accordance with the 
Statement of Investment Policy and 
the annual Investment Strategy

• Maintain a custodial account for
the holding of securities

• Monitor and provide regular 
performance and position reporting 

• Review the Statement of Investment 
Policy and Investment Strategy 
annually

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• Preserve capital

• Investment income that is available 
for Capacity Development and 
Administration

• The Fund’s net worth, i.e. its Deferred 
Contributions, grew in 2018 from 
$355.0 million at the beginning of the 
year to $358.8 million at the end of 
the year; a growth of $3.8 million or 
1.1%. The original contribution by the 
Federal government was $300 million.  

• Investment income was $10,150,530. 
Investment income exceeded total 
expenses by $3,765,876.

Objectives Activities

• Support Fund objectives by providing:

• Sound financial and risk 
management, 

• Efficient and reliable information 
technology processes; and,

• Effective human resource 
management.

• Managing the Fund’s bank accounts, 
processing expenditures, preparing 
necessary reports and statements, 
filing required returns.

• Business Plan.

• Annual Report.

• Managing human resources.

• Contracting for all necessary goods 
and services.

• Maintaining the Fund’s policies, 
procedures and guidelines. 

• Identifying and enacting process 
improvements.

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• 6 Board meetings

• 24 Committee meetings

• Business Plan prepared

• Annual Report prepared

• Financial Statements prepared
in timely manner

• 8 Board meetings held 

• 24 Committee meetings held 

• 2019 Business Plan prepared and
sent to Minister on time  

• 2017 Annual Report prepared and 
sent to Minister on time 

• 2017 audited financial statements 
were prepared and sent to Funder
on time

* The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2018 Business Plan.
** Cash and cash equivalents includes accrued interest receivable.  
*** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. 
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Objectives Activities

• Maintain sufficient liquidity in order 
to meet business requirements

• Preserve and grow capital to maintain 
and expand the capacity of the Fund 
to carry out its core activities

• Invest assets in accordance with the 
Statement of Investment Policy and 
the annual Investment Strategy

• Maintain a custodial account for
the holding of securities

• Monitor and provide regular 
performance and position reporting 

• Review the Statement of Investment 
Policy and Investment Strategy 
annually

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• Preserve capital

• Investment income that is available 
for Capacity Development and 
Administration

• The Fund’s net worth, i.e. its Deferred 
Contributions, grew in 2018 from 
$355.0 million at the beginning of the 
year to $358.8 million at the end of 
the year; a growth of $3.8 million or 
1.1%. The original contribution by the 
Federal government was $300 million.  

• Investment income was $10,150,530. 
Investment income exceeded total 
expenses by $3,765,876.

Objectives Activities

• Support Fund objectives by providing:

• Sound financial and risk 
management, 

• Efficient and reliable information 
technology processes; and,

• Effective human resource 
management.

• Managing the Fund’s bank accounts, 
processing expenditures, preparing 
necessary reports and statements, 
filing required returns.

• Business Plan.

• Annual Report.

• Managing human resources.

• Contracting for all necessary goods 
and services.

• Maintaining the Fund’s policies, 
procedures and guidelines. 

• Identifying and enacting process 
improvements.

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• 6 Board meetings

• 24 Committee meetings

• Business Plan prepared

• Annual Report prepared

• Financial Statements prepared
in timely manner

• 8 Board meetings held 

• 24 Committee meetings held 

• 2019 Business Plan prepared and
sent to Minister on time  

• 2017 Annual Report prepared and 
sent to Minister on time 

• 2017 audited financial statements 
were prepared and sent to Funder
on time

* The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2018 Business Plan.
** Cash and cash equivalents includes accrued interest receivable.  
*** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. 



FNMHF 2018 Annual Report54

Objective 4.0: Effectively 
Manage the Fund
To remain a strong organization that is able to fulfil 
its mandate, the Fund draws on sound financial 
and risk management policies, efficient and reliable 
information technology processes and systems, 
and effective human resources management.

The Fund prepared and reported in a timely 
manner the following reports:

• Quarterly financial statements to the Funder, 
per the Fund’s Funding Agreement; and

• Quarterly financial reports to the Federal Government 
for inclusion in the Public Accounts of Canada.

In addition, the Fund filed its 2017 T3 Trust Income Tax 
and Information Returns [“Returns”] showing nil taxable 
income in a timely manner. The Fund has filed these 
Returns showing nil taxable income for each of 2008 
through 2017. Trust Notices of Assessment [“Notices”] 
were received from the CRA indicating that the assessed 
taxable income and taxes payable were nil for each of 
the ten years. The Notices indicate that the CRA can 
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to carry out its core activities
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Statement of Investment Policy and 
the annual Investment Strategy

• Maintain a custodial account for
the holding of securities

• Monitor and provide regular 
performance and position reporting 

• Review the Statement of Investment 
Policy and Investment Strategy 
annually

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• Preserve capital

• Investment income that is available 
for Capacity Development and 
Administration

• The Fund’s net worth, i.e. its Deferred 
Contributions, grew in 2018 from 
$355.0 million at the beginning of the 
year to $358.8 million at the end of 
the year; a growth of $3.8 million or 
1.1%. The original contribution by the 
Federal government was $300 million.  

• Investment income was $10,150,530. 
Investment income exceeded total 
expenses by $3,765,876.

Objectives Activities

• Support Fund objectives by providing:

• Sound financial and risk 
management, 

• Efficient and reliable information 
technology processes; and,

• Effective human resource 
management.

• Managing the Fund’s bank accounts, 
processing expenditures, preparing 
necessary reports and statements, 
filing required returns.

• Business Plan.

• Annual Report.

• Managing human resources.

• Contracting for all necessary goods 
and services.

• Maintaining the Fund’s policies, 
procedures and guidelines. 

• Identifying and enacting process 
improvements.

Key Performance Indicators
2018 Plan

2018 Results

• 6 Board meetings

• 24 Committee meetings

• Business Plan prepared

• Annual Report prepared

• Financial Statements prepared
in timely manner

• 8 Board meetings held 

• 24 Committee meetings held 

• 2019 Business Plan prepared and
sent to Minister on time  

• 2017 Annual Report prepared and 
sent to Minister on time 

• 2017 audited financial statements 
were prepared and sent to Funder
on time

* The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2018 Business Plan.
** Cash and cash equivalents includes accrued interest receivable.  
*** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. 

reassess the return at any time within three years of the 
date of the Notices if it finds an error during a review or 
audit of the return. The three-year period on the Notices 
for the years 2008 through 2014 have now expired.

Given the pending outcome of the National Housing 
Strategy, the Minister requested that the Fund prepare 
a one-year Business Plan for 2019 instead of the usual 
five-year Business Plan. This one-year Plan was prepared 
and submitted to the Minister in a timely manner. 

The 2017 Annual Report was completed and 
sent to the Minister in a timely manner.

During 2018, the Fund strengthened its information 
technology processes including IT security and risk 
management through consultations with third-
party experts and its information technology 
service provider. The Fund’s information technology 
capabilities continued to strengthen in 2018.
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A community partnership initiative culminated with efforts for a totem pole raised on the grounds of the new regional hospital in Queen Charlotte City, B.C. A community feast and celebration 
followed in Skidegate, in Haida tradition with song, dance and speeches. Nancy Pine, Senior Program Officer and Gail Joe, Capacity Development Provider attended the celebration.
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Summary of Financial Results

Cash and Cash Equivalents with Long-term Investments and 
Deferred Contributions were above the planned amounts 
as total actual expenses were less than planned over the 
three-year period 2016-18 by approximately $11 million. 

The Fund’s Statement of Investment Policy requires the 
Fund to keep a minimum of 2% of its investments in cash 
or cash equivalent investments (which includes accrued 
interest receivable), which allows a maximum of 98% 
to be invested in long-term fixed income instruments. 
Historically, the Fund has maintained a minimal balance 
in cash or cash equivalent investments just enough to 
support its operating activities; however, the Fund began 
to accumulate this balance in anticipation of restructuring 
of its laddered bond portfolio. As the Fund’s updated 
Statement of Investment Policy was not approved by the 
Minister until December 2018, the balance in Cash and 
Cash Equivalents continued to be healthy at December 
31, 2018. Thus, actual figures at the end of 2018 were 
88.6% (2017 – 92.3%) in Long-term Investments and 
11.4% (2017 – 7.7%) in Cash and Cash Equivalents. 

Investment income was slightly in excess of the planned 
amount, by $271,530, as although the actual yields earned 
on the long-term portion of the Fund’s portfolio was less 
than planned, due to the lower expenses in 2016-18 
as noted earlier, the Fund had more monies to invest in 
long-term investments than planned. With the inclusion of 
corporate bonds in the laddered bond portfolio, the Fund 
expects an increase of 4.6% in investment income in 2019.

Administration expenses were under-spent as compared 
to the plan by approximately $1.4 million, primarily due 

Financial results as compared to plan are as follows:

to under-spending in travel, professional & technical 
services and Trustee governance costs. Travel costs 
related to on-site visits were lower than planned because 
the number of applications received from First Nations 
was less than planned (10 instead of 20). Fund staff 
were also able to achieve efficiencies in time and cost 
savings by holding multiple meetings and visits to First 
Nation communities and lenders in a single trip. In terms 
of professional fees, the Fund incurred lower salaries 
and benefits costs due to certain positions not being 
filled, planned in anticipation of events such as the 
launch of the First Nations Housing Strategy and the 
appointment of new trustees, which did not occur in 2018. 
Furthermore, the Fund had budgeted for an increase in 
investment management fees associated with increased 
activities under its new Statement of Investment Policy, 
which was not approved until the end of 2018. Trustee 
governance costs were less than planned as the plan was 
based on a full complement of nine Trustees; however, 
only six Trustee were actually in place during 2018. 

Capacity development expenses increased in 2018 but 
were still below budget by approximately $1.5M. The 
level of CD spending is lower than expected because First 
Nation clients have been able to find other resources to 
address funding for Capacity Development. In addition, 
the Fund makes a conscious effort to stay within the 
CD budget approved by the Minister. It should be noted 
that these CD dollars are not lost and remain available 
for capacity building initiatives in subsequent years.

Based on the 2018 results, up to $8.1M is available 
for capacity development spending in 2019. Actual 

Cash and Cash Equivalents ** 

Long-term Investments 

Deferred Contributions 

Investment Income 

Administration Expenses 

Capacity Development Expenses 

Funds available for 2019 Capacity Development *** 

Credit Enhancement Guarantee (Recovery) 

Capital Assets Purchased

2018 Plan ($)*

13,058,000 

337,892,000 

348,181,000 

9,879,000 

5,274,274 

4,000,000 

4,000,000 

(70,000) 

190,000

2018 Results ($)

41,075,543 

317,801,662 

358,788,766 

10,150,530 

3,794,985 

2,511,203 

$8,111,064 

78,466 

206,221

* The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2018 Business Plan.
** Cash and cash equivalents includes accrued interest receivable.  
*** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. 

Trustee 

Audit Committee 

Investment Committee 

Human Resources Committee 

Operations Committee 

Governance Committee

Number of
Members 

Meetings

6

3

2 

2 

2 

2

6 

4 

4 

2 

7 

7

Number of
Planned Meetings* 

Number of
Actual Meetings

Average Number of
Days per Meeting 

* Meetings are held face-to-face or via conference call. 

8 

4 

8 

5 

3

4

1.25 

0.25 

0.25 

0.25 

0.25

0.25

Honoraria

Travel

2018 ($)Expense

129,450 

161,144
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capacity development expenditures in any given year 
shall be approved by the Minister responsible for 
CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. The Minister 
has approved $4.0 million in capacity development 
spending for 2019. Any unexpended amounts at the 
end of 2019 may be carried forward to be spent on 
capacity development activities in subsequent years.

During 2018, the Fund provided 46 partial loan guarantees 
to third-party lenders under the Credit Enhancement 
facility for 46 homes, bringing the accumulated total to 
257 partial loan guarantees for 297 homes. At December 
31, 2018, the total value of the loans was $49.9 million, 
of which the Fund is guaranteeing a maximum of 10 
percent, or $4.99 million. An estimate of the Fund’s liability 
at December 31, 2018 on this guaranteed amount of 
approximately $4.99 million is $243,968. The Fund has 
no history of any claims paid to lenders at this point. As 
at December 31, 2018, there were 14 loans in arrears, 
which represented five percent of the total of 257 loans 
outstanding. These loans in arrears range from 15 to 
420 days outstanding. By comparison, 15 loans were in 
arrears at the end of 2017 ranging from 15 to 120 days.  

A loan is considered to be in arrears until all outstanding 
amounts are paid in full, even if partial payments are 
being made. The Fund’s estimated liability calculation is 
formula-driven which, for each loan in arrears, is based 
on the number of days it is in arrears and the financial 
strength of the First Nation that is guaranteeing the 
loan. The methodology underwent a fulsome review 
for use in the preparation of the Fund’s 2018 financial 
statements. As the liability at the end of 2018 ($243,968) 
was more than that at the end of 2017 ($165,502), 
the difference of $78,466 was expensed in 2018 in the 
Statement of Operations with a corresponding increase 
to the liability account in the Statement of Financial 
Position. The increase in the 2018 liability was in response 
to the increase in the number of days in arrears, which 
in turn increased the probability of member defaults.

The Fund incurred a total of $206,221 on capital asset 
purchases during 2018 including $159,426 in leasehold 
improvements to the expanded office space. In the 
preparation of the 2018 budget, the expectation was that 
the Fund’s landlord would cover the cost of leasehold 
improvements, estimated at $70,000. Thus, the Fund’s 
own cost of capital asset purchases would net to $120,000 
($190,000 total budgeted less $70,000). During 2018, 
subsequent to the approval of the 2018 Business Plan, 
the arrangement with the landlord was revised so that 
the landlord would reimburse the Fund for costs incurred 
on leasehold improvements. Through market studies and 
tender process, the Fund determined that the cost of 
leasehold improvements would be significantly higher than 

the initial amount budgeted; therefore, the Fund took 
various measures to ensure that its capital asset purchases 
would not exceed the budget. This included double tender, 
revisions and ceasing of purchases, and negotiation to 
increase the tenant inducement (landlord’s reimbursement) 
to a maximum of $105,751. As a result, the Fund’s total 
capital asset purchases, net of tenant inducement were 
$100,470 compared to the budget of $190,000.
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Kamloopa Pow Wow
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Financial Statements

Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
For the year ended 2018

The First Nations Market Housing Fund management is responsible for the integrity and 
objectivity of the financial statements and related financial information presented in this 
annual report. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles, and consequently include amounts which are 
based on the best estimates and judgement of management. The financial information 
contained elsewhere in this annual report is consistent with that in the financial statements.

The First Nations Market Housing Fund maintains appropriate systems and related 
internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that financial information is 
reliable, assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and in 
accordance with relevant legal documents governing the Fund, resources are 
managed efficiently and economically, and operations are carried out effectively.

The Board of Trustees, through an Audit Committee, oversees management’s responsibilities 
for financial reporting and internal control systems. The Board of Trustees, upon the 
recommendation of the Audit Committee, has approved the financial statements.

The financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Ernst & Young has full access to, and 
meet periodically with, the Audit Committee to discuss their audit and related matters.

Deborah Taylor 
Executive Director

Travis Seymour 
Director, Finance and Administration
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To the Trustees of First Nations Market Housing Fund 
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of First Nations Market Housing Fund (the “Fund”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the statement of operations, 
statement of changes in deferred contributions and statement of cash flows for the years then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects the financial position of the Fund as at December 31, 2018, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
public sector accounting standards for government not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we 
have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards for government not-for-profit organizations, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Fund’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Independent auditors’ report
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Fund’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Ottawa, Canada 
March 12, 2019

Chartered Professional Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants
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Assets

Current

Cash and cash equivalents [note 3]

Restricted cash [note 4]

Accrued interest receivable

Prepaid expenses

Accounts receivable

Total current assets

Long-term investments [note 5]

Capital assets, net [note 6]

Liabilities

Current

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities [notes 7 and 15]

Total current liabilities

Credit enhancement guarantee liability [note 13]

Capital lease obligation [note 14]

Deferred lease inducement [note 8]

Deferred contributions [note 9]

Commitments and contingent liabilities [note 13]

2018

$

41,075,543

159,857

1,042,532

57,135

19,141

42,354,208

317,801,662

287,589

360,443,459

1,274,289

1,274,289

243,968

35,378

101,058

358,788,766

360,443,459

2017

$

26,296,478 

—

1,128,705 

37,854 

— 

27,463,037

328,818,985

140,747

356,422,769

1,174,093

1,174,093

165,502

60,284

—

355,022,890

356,422,769

On behalf of the Trustees:

John Beaucage 
Chairperson

Maurice Biron, CPA, CGA 
Audit Chairperson

Statement of financial position

See accompanying notes

As at December 2018
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Year ended December 31

Revenue

Recognition of deferred contributions related to current year operations

Total revenue

Expenses

Administrative [notes 6, 8, 10 and 15]

Capacity development [note 12]

Credit enhancement guarantee (recovery) [note 13]

Total expenses

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year

2018

$  

6,384,654

6,384,654

3,794,985

2,511,203

78,466

6,384,654

—

2017

$  

4,983,094

4,983,094

3,803,778

1,277,564

(98,248)

4,983,094

— 

Statement of operations

See accompanying notes
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Year ended December 31

Deferred contributions, beginning of year

Investment income 

Recognized as revenue to match expenses 

Deferred contributions, end of year

2018

$  

355,022,890

10,150,530

(6,384,654)

358,788,766

2017

$  

349,351,961

10,654,023

(4,983,094)

355,022,890

Statement of changes in deferred contributions

See accompanying notes
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Year ended December 31

Operating activities

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year

Add (deduct) items not affecting cash

 Depreciation of capital assets

 Credit enhancement guarantee (recovery)

Net change in non-cash working capital balances 

 related to operations [note 11]

Net increase in deferred contributions

Non-cash amortization of premiums and discounts

Cash provided by operating activities

Capital activities

Acquisition of capital assets

Cash used in capital activities

Investing activities

Purchase of long-term investments

Sale and maturity of long-term investments

Cash provided by investing activities

Financing activities

Principal payment under capital leases

Cash used in financing activities

Net increase in cash during the year

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

2018

$  

—

59,379

78,466

89,148

3,765,876

1,322,839

5,315,708

(206,221)

(206,221)

(40,016,406)

49,710,890

9,694,484

(24,906)

(24,906)

14,779,065

26,296,478

41,075,543

2017

$  

—

43,266

(98,248)

14,552

5,670,929

1,387,554

7,018,053

(3,412)

(3,412)

(22,858,277)

33,310,000

10,451,723

(23,692)

(23,692)

17,442,672

8,853,806

26,296,478

See accompanying notes

Statement of cash flows
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Notes to financial statements

1. Nature of operations
The First Nations Market Housing Fund [the “Fund”] was established on March 31, 2008 
through an Indenture of Trust in the Province of Ontario. The purpose of the Fund is to 
facilitate the availability of financing for, and the accessible supply of, market-based housing 
in First Nations communities. The Fund also helps to create the capacity in First Nations 
communities to become self-sufficient in developing and sustaining market-based housing, 
thereby contributing to the social welfare and civic improvement of First Nations communities 
and their residents. An over-arching goal is to move to a system that provides to First Nations 
residents the same housing opportunities and responsibilities in their communities as other 
Canadians. The Fund operates on a not-for-profit basis. The beneficiary of the Fund is Her 
Majesty the Queen in right of Canada.

The Fund’s vision statement is that “every First Nation family has the opportunity to have a 
home on their own land in a strong community”.

On April 28, 2008, the Fund entered into the following agreements with Canada Mortgage 
and Housing Corporation [“CMHC”]:

• A Funding Agreement which sets out the terms and conditions for the transfer and use of 
a $300 million contribution from the Funder [“CMHC”] on behalf of the Government of 
Canada to the Fund. This agreement provides additional direction of the Fund’s non-profit 
activities, reporting obligations, permitted use of funding and duties of Trustees.

• A Management Agreement which sets out the terms and conditions for the management 
of day-to-day activities of the Fund by the Manager [“CMHC”] on behalf of the Fund. 
The initial term of the Management Agreement was for five years. The term of the 
Management Agreement was extended by agreement to March 31, 2015. No further 
extension of the term of the Management Agreement has been entered into. CMHC, 
however, continues to provide selected management services to the Fund. These services 
include investment management services.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Public Sector [“PS”] 
Accounting Handbook including the use of the standards for government not-for-profit 
organizations that include sections PS 4200 to PS 4270, which constitutes generally accepted 
accounting principles for government not-for-profit organizations in Canada [“GAAP”]. The 
significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements conform 
in all material respects with Canadian GAAP and are summarized as follows: 

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Fund becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value 
adjusted by transaction costs. Financial instruments are subsequently measured at cost or 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Included in financial assets are cash 
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accrued interest receivable, and 
long-term investments. Included in financial liabilities are accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities, and capital lease obligation. 

December 31, 2018
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Minimum rating criteria – Term less than 365 days

Investment 
All investments 

Moody’s 
P-1(A) / A3

S&P 
A-1(Low) / A-

DBRS 
R-1(low) / A(low)

Minimum rating criteria – Term greater than one year

Investment 
All investments 

Moody’s 
Baa3

S&P 
BBB-

DBRS 
BBB(low)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term, highly liquid investments with an 
original term to maturity of 98 days or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash. These funds are expected to be used in operations.

Cash equivalents must be rated by at least two rating agencies as outlined in the table below. 
If an issuer has no long-term rating, one short-term rating is required for investments with 
a term of less than one year. In instances where the rating agencies’ opinions differ, the 
lower of the two highest ratings available shall be used for the purpose of determining an 
instrument’s eligibility for investment. The fair value of cash equivalents is disclosed in note 3.

Long-term investments

Long-term investments comprise cash and fixed income investments held for investing 
purposes. Transaction date accounting is used to record the purchase and sale of long-term 
investments. Premiums and discounts are amortized to income using the effective interest 
rate method over the period to maturity. Gains and losses on disposal and impairments are 
recorded in income in the period incurred.

Long-term investments must be rated by at least two rating agencies as outlined in the table 
below. In instances where the rating agencies’ opinions differ, the lower of the two highest 
ratings available shall be used for the purpose of determining an instrument’s eligibility for 
investment. The fair value of long-term investments is disclosed in note 5.

Capital assets

Capital assets comprise furniture and equipment and leasehold improvements made to the 
Fund’s office space. Capital assets are recorded at acquisition cost. Depreciation of furniture 
and equipment is provided on a declining balance basis over the assets’ estimated useful life 
at a rate of 20%. Depreciation of leasehold improvements is provided on a straight-line basis 
over the term of the lease, which is six years.

Included in furniture and equipment are computer equipment under capital leases. In case of 
assets under capital leases, expected useful lives are determined by reference to comparable 
owned assets or over the lease term, if shorter.
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Revenue recognition

The Fund follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Initial contribution and 
subsequent investment income are deferred and recognized as revenue in the period in which 
the related expenses are recognized.

Leases

The Fund classifies leases as operating or capital based on the substance of the transaction at 
inception of the lease.

An operating lease is a lease in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership is retained by the lessor. Payments under an operating lease are recognized as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. Associated costs, such as 
maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

Leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the 
lessee are classified as capital leases. Assets meeting capital lease criteria are capitalized at 
the lower of the present value of the related lease payments plus incidental payments or 
the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease. Minimum lease payments are 
apportioned between the finance cost and the liability. The finance charge is recognized in 
income within administrative expenses and is allocated to each period during the lease term 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Deferred lease inducement

Deferred lease inducement comprises the unamortized portion of the reimbursement of costs 
incurred by the Fund on leasehold improvements as part of the lease extension agreement. 
Lease inducements are an inseparable part of the lease agreement, and accordingly, are 
accounted for as reductions of the lease expense over the term of the lease, which is six 
years.

Credit enhancement guarantees

Under its Credit Enhancement Facility, the Fund provides guarantees to third-party lenders 
and insurers that repayment of financing arranged for housing in qualified First Nations 
communities will be honoured up to the limit of the agreed upon Credit Enhancement in the 
event that a First Nation fails to fulfill its responsibility for the repayment of a loan default. 
The Fund’s accumulated Credit Enhancement coverage cannot exceed the net worth of the 
Fund, with the Fund defining net worth as the difference between what the Fund owns and 
what it owes. As long as the Fund remains a going concern, the deferred contribution is not 
considered an amount owing by the Fund.

The Fund’s credit enhancement guarantees are considered to be loan guarantees and as 
such are accounted for and reported as contingent liabilities. A provision for losses on credit 
enhancement guarantees is made when it is determined that a loss is likely, and is accounted 
for as a liability in the statement of financial position and in the statement of operations as 
an expense. The Fund’s provision for losses on credit enhancement guarantees is formula-
driven, which for each loan in arrears, is based on the amount in arrears, the number of days 
it is in arrears and the financial strength of the First Nation that is guaranteeing the loan. The 
formula is reviewed on an annual basis. Any change in the liability relating to the provision for 
losses is recorded in the statement of operations.
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Income taxes

The Fund is accounted for as an entity that, pursuant to section 149 of the Income Tax Act 
(Canada) [the “Act”], is not subject to income taxes.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of the revenues and expenses during the year. Items requiring the use of significant 
estimates include the credit enhancement guarantee liability as well as commitments and 
contingent liabilities.

Estimates are based on the best information available at the time of financial statement 
preparation and are reviewed annually to reflect new information as it becomes available. 
Measurement uncertainty exists in these financial statements. Actual results could differ from 
these estimates. 

Newly adopted accounting standards

The Public Sector Accounting Board issued new accounting standards effective for fiscal 
years beginning on or after April 1, 2017. As a result, the Fund adopted the following new 
accounting standards:

• PS 2200, Related Party Disclosures. PS 2200 defines a related party and establishes 
disclosures required for related party transactions. Disclosure of information about related 
party transactions and the relationship underlying them is required when the transactions 
have occurred at a value different from that which would have been arrived at if the parties 
were unrelated, and the transactions have, or could have, a material financial effect on the 
financial statements.

• PS 3420, Inter-entity Transactions. PS 3420 establishes standards on how to account 
for and report transactions between public sector entities that comprise a government 
reporting entity from both a provider and recipient perspective. Requirements of this 
standard are considered in conjunction with requirements of PS 2200.

• PS 3210, Assets. PS 3210 provides guidance for applying the definition of assets set out 
in PS 1000, Financial Statement Concepts, and establishes general disclosure standards 
for assets. Disclosure of information about the major categories of assets that are not 
recognized is required. When an asset is not recognized because a reasonable estimate of 
the amount involved cannot be made, a disclosure should be provided.

• PS 3320, Contingent Assets. PS 3320 defines and establishes disclosure standards for 
contingent assets. Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions 
or situations involving uncertainty. Disclosure of information about contingent assets is 
required when the occurrence of the confirming future event is likely.

• PS 3380, Contractual Rights. PS 3380 defines and establishes disclosure standards for 
contractual rights. Contractual rights are rights to economic resources arising from 
contracts or agreements that will result in both an asset and revenue in the future. 
Disclosure of information about contractual rights is required, including description of their 
nature and extent, and the timing.

There is no impact to the financial statements upon transition to the new standards.
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3. Cash and cash equivalents
The following table shows the composition of cash and cash equivalents:

As at December 31, 2018, the fair value of the Fund’s investments in banker’s acceptances 
was $40,703,323 [2017 – $25,826,051]. The fair value of the Fund’s banker’s acceptances 
is determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.

4. Restricted cash
The amount recorded as restricted cash of $159,857 [2017 – nil] is in reference to an escrow 
account established by the Trustees in 2018. The establishment of this escrow account 
is a condition of employment arrangements and secures the obligations of the Fund.

Cash

Banker’s acceptances

2018

$

372,220

40,703,323

41,075,543

2017

$

470,427

25,826,051

26,296,478
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5. Long-term investments
The following table shows the contractual maturity structure and average yield for the long-
term investments:

As at December 31, 2018, the fair value of the Fund’s long-term investments was 
$320,465,118 [2017 – $335,031,495]. The fair value of the Fund’s long-term investments is 
determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market.

Provincial bonds

Banker’s acceptances

Sovereign bonds

Corporate bonds

Government of Canada bonds

Total

Yield

Over 5 years

$

138,371,673

—

—

—

5,807,174

144,178,847

2.64%

1 to 3 years

$

53,180,476

—

—

—

13,086,635

66,267,111

3.34%

Within 1 year

$

38,278,410

—

—

—

—

38,278,410

3.51%

2018

$

278,056,610

—

—

—

39,745,052

317,801,662

2.94%

2017

$

283,876,422

5,001,890

—

—

  39,940,673

328,818,985

3.02%

3 to 5 years

$

48,226,051

—

—

—

20,851,243

69,077,294

2.88%
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6. Capital assets
The following tables show the composition of capital assets:

 

2018

Cost, beginning of year

Additions

Cost, end of year

Accumulated depreciation, beginning of year

Depreciation

Accumulated deprecation, end of year

Net book value

 

2017

Cost, beginning of year

Additions

Cost, end of year

Accumulated depreciation, beginning of year

Depreciation

Accumulated deprecation, end of year

Net book value

Leasehold 
improvements

$

248,751

159,426

408,177

248,751

13,054

261,805

146,372

Leasehold 
improvements

$

248,751

—

248,751

248,751

—

248,751

—

Equipment under 
capital lease

$

90,787

—

90,787

32,682

25,116

57,798

32,989

Equipment under 
capital lease

$

90,787

—

90,787

7,566

25,116

32,682

58,105

Total 

$

577,793

206,221

784,014

437,046

59,379

496,425

287,589

Total 

$

574,381

3,412

577,793

393,780

43,266

437,046

140,747

Furniture and 
equipment

$

238,255

46,795

285,050

155,613

21,209

176,822

108,228

Furniture and 
equipment

$

234,843

3,412

238,255

137,463

18,150

155,613

82,642

Depreciation expense is included in administrative expenses in the statement of operations.
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7. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
The following table presents the composition of accounts payable and accrued liabilities:

CMHC

Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities

2018

$

86,846

1,187,443

1,274,289

2017

$

253,480

920,613

1,174,093

8. Deferred lease inducement
The Fund received $105,751 [2017 – nil] from the lessor of its offices space as reimbursement 
of a portion of the leasehold improvement costs pursuant to the 2018 lease extension 
agreement. This amount is deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis as a reduction to 
rental expenses over the term of the lease, which is six years. Reduction to rental expenses 
was $4,693 [2017 – nil].

9. Capital management
The Fund includes deferred contributions in the definition of capital. As at December 
31, 2018, the deferred contributions were $358,788,766 [2017 – $355,022,890]. These 
contributions were primarily invested in long-term investments, with the balance being held 
in cash and cash equivalents to meet short-term operating requirements.

The Fund’s objectives when managing capital are to minimize volatility of expected investment 
results and cash flows in order to earn sufficient returns so that the Fund can fulfill its 
objectives, maintain sufficient liquidity to meet business requirements as they arise and to 
preserve capital.

The deferred contributions comprise the initial contribution of $300 million from the Funder 
along with any investment income net of any expenses incurred by the Fund. The Indenture 
of Trust requires that any income, gains and accretions, after expenses, shall be added to this 
initial contribution and be devoted exclusively to the objectives of the Fund. The Indenture 
of Trust also requires that the Fund’s contingent and actual obligations under the credit 
enhancement facility not exceed the net worth of the Fund, with the Fund defining net worth 
as the difference between what the Fund owns and what it owes. The Fund is in compliance 
with these conditions as set out in the Indenture of Trust. 

On December 13, 2018, a revised Statement of Investment Policy and Investment Strategy 
were approved by the Funder, which included different investment ratings and instrument 
classes than had been permitted in the past. Eligible investment ratings were slightly lowered 
to allow investments in corporate bonds with higher yields up to a maximum of 33% of the 
Fund’s total investment portfolio. The addition of corporate bonds is expected to improve the 
overall yield of the Fund’s investment portfolio.

No other changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes that were applicable for 
the year ended December 31, 2018.
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10. Administrative expenses
The following table presents the composition of administrative expenses:

[a] Professional and technical services includes the following services: all staff [salaries and fringe benefits], Investment Manager, legal, audit, 
banking, custodial, insurance, consulting and other miscellaneous services.

[b] Trustee governance includes honoraria and travel expenses for up to nine Trustees.

[c] Business premises mainly include office rental expenses and utilities.

[d] Other expenses mainly include marketing and promotion, depreciation of furniture and equipment, office supplies, postage and courier, and 
Fund development.

Professional and technical services [a]

Travel

Trustee governance [b]

Business premises [c]

Computer and telecommunications

Other [d]

Increase in restricted cash

Decrease in accrued interest receivable

Increase in prepaid expenses

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Increase in deferred leased inducement

2018

$

2,431,569

283,856

319,068

215,845

166,730

377,917

3,794,985

2018

$

(159,857)

86,173

(19,281)

(19,141)

100,196

101,058

89,148

2017

$

2,584,656

281,790

304,113

180,476

161,276

291,467

3,803,778

2017

$

—

105,118

(1,518)

2,383

(91,431)

—

14,552

The various management fees and out-of-pocket costs related to CMHC as discussed in 
note 15 are primarily included within the “Professional and technical services” account 
listed above.

11. Statement of cash flows
The net change in non-cash working capital balances related to operations consists of the 
following:
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12. Capacity development
The maximum amount available for capacity development in any given year shall not exceed 
50% of the preceding period’s net income. For purposes of determining the amount of 
capacity development available, the Fund defines net income as investment and other income 
less any expenses incurred during the year. Any unexpended amounts at the end of the year 
can be carried forward to be spent in subsequent years.

Changes in funds available for capacity development are as follows:

Balance, beginning of year

Add

Allocations during the year [50% of prior year’s net income]

Less

Funds expensed towards capacity development

Balance, end of year, before additional allocation

Add

Allocations for subsequent year [50% of current year’s net income]

Balance, available in subsequent year

2018

$

5,903,864

2,835,465

8,739,329

2,511,203

6,228,126

1,882,938

8,111,064

2017

$

4,402,530

2,778,898

7,181,428

1,277,564

5,903,864

2,835,465

8,739,329
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13. Commitments and contingent liabilities
Commitments

The Fund leases office premises and certain computer equipment under long-term operating 
leases expiring up to July 31, 2024. Future minimum annual lease payments for the office 
premises over the next five years are as follows [see note 14 for computer equipment lease 
commitments]:

In addition, on June 1, 2016, the Fund entered into a three-year contract with an 
information technology [“IT”] organization to provide IT support services. Future minimum 
annual payments over the remaining term of the contract are as follows:

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2019

$

101,407

104,321

108,400

109,857

111,897

535,882

$

22,367

On April 28, 2008, the Fund entered into a five-year Management Agreement with CMHC. 
The term of the Management Agreement was extended by agreement to March 31, 2015. 
No further extension of the term of the Management Agreement has been entered into. 
CMHC, however, continues to provide selected management services to the Fund. Pursuant 
to the current arrangement with CMHC, the Fund reimburses the CMHC for all reasonable 
actual direct, indirect and overhead costs it incurs. These costs include investment manager 
fees and other related out-of-pocket costs incurred by CMHC on behalf of the Fund.

As at December 31, 2018, the Fund had entered into contracts with suppliers to 
provide capacity development services. The work performed by these suppliers to 
December 31, 2018 but not yet paid by the Fund of $379,481 [2017 – $267,639] 
is included in note 7 under “Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities”. 
The balance owing on these contracts for work that was not yet performed as 
at December 31, 2018 is approximately $921,000 [2017 – $598,500].

As at December 31, 2018, the Fund had entered into contracts with consultants to 
provide professional services to the Fund. The work performed by these consultants 
to December 31, 2018 but not yet billed to the Fund of $37,230 [2017 – $58,114] 
is included in note 7 under “Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities.” 
The balance owing on these contracts for work that was not yet performed as 
at December 31, 2018 is approximately $25,000 [2017 – $184,000].
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Credit enhancement guarantee

As at December 31, 2018, the Fund has approved maximum housing 
loan guarantee credit to First Nation communities of $964 million [2017 – 
$943.1 million] based on an estimated 6,600 units [2017 – 6,500].

Since its inception, the Fund has provided guarantees on a total of 257 loans [2017 – 
215] for 297 units [2017 – 255], including both single and multiunit rental properties, 
under the Credit Enhancement Facility for a maximum guaranteed amount of $4,994,475 
[2017 – $4,252,202]. The amortization period of the loans ranges from 6 to 25 years. 
The First Nations have indemnified the Fund for any amounts that may be paid by the 
Fund to the lender under the Credit Enhancement Facility. As at December 31, 2018, the 
maximum guaranteed amount outstanding was $4,185,189 [2017 – $3,982,761].

An estimate of the Fund’s liability on the guaranteed amount of $4,185,189 in place at 
December 31, 2018 [2017 – $3,982,761] is $243,968 [2017 – $165,502]. The Fund has 
no history of any claims paid to lenders at this point. As at December 31, 2018, there were 
14 loans in arrears [2017 – 15 loans]. The outstanding amounts of loans in arrears total 
$2,252,771 [2017 – $2,553,564] and range from 15 to 420 days in arrears [2017 – 15 to 
120 days]. As the liability established at the end of 2017 was $165,502, which is lower 
than the estimated liability at the end of 2018 of $243,968, the difference of $78,466 was 
expensed in 2018 [2017 – a recovery of $98,248] in the statement of operations with a 
corresponding increase to the liability account in the 2018 statement of financial position.

Income taxes

The Fund had discussions with the Rulings Directorate [“CRA Rulings”] of the Canada 
Revenue Agency [“CRA”] about its non-taxable status. At the conclusion of the most 
recent round of discussions in 2009, CRA Rulings was not prepared to support the 
Fund’s position that it is non-taxable pursuant to subsection 149(1) of the Act.

The Fund has filed T3 Trust Income Tax and Information Returns [“Returns”] showing nil 
taxable income for each of 2008 – 2017. Trust Notices of Assessment [“Notices”] were 
received from the CRA indicating that the assessed taxable income and taxes payable 
were nil for each of these ten years. The Notices indicate that the CRA can reassess the 
return at any time within three years of the date of the Notices if it finds an error during 
a review or audit of the return. The three-year time periods on the Notices for the years 
2008 – 2014 have now expired. The 2015 Notice was dated November 17, 2016, the 
2016 Notice was dated June 7, 2017, and the 2017 Notice was dated July 25, 2018.

The Fund plans to pursue all available avenues to support its position with 
the CRA, and the courts, if necessary, to ultimately determine that the Fund 
is exempt from Part I tax under the Act. Should it ultimately be determined 
that the Fund is subject to income tax, any income taxes owing since 2015 by 
the Fund would be approximately $3,620,000 [2017 − $3,450,000].
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14. Capital lease obligation
The Fund leases certain computer and office equipment under long-term leases, which have 
been capitalized. The Fund leases printers on a five-year term, which will end on August 7, 
2021. The Fund also leases personal computers on a three-year term, which will end on July 
31, 2019. Future minimum annual lease payments over the next three years are as follows:

Total interest on leases for the year was $2,929 [2017 – $4,142]

15. Related party transactions
The Fund is related to the Government of Canada through the Funding Agreement, which 
provided the $300 million contribution by CMHC in 2008 as agent of and on behalf of the 
Government of Canada. The net equity of the Fund is consolidated annually with the financial 
results of the Government of Canada in the Public Accounts.

The Fund is related to the CMHC Minister, formerly, through the Management Agreement 
which was required to be approved by the CMHC Minister pursuant to Section 16.1 of the 
Indenture of Trust, and, currently, through the implied management arrangement.

The Fund is also related to CMHC through the Funding and the implied management 
arrangement. All payments to CMHC are made in the normal course of business, measured 
at the exchange amount and are made in accordance with the terms of the Funding and the 
implied management arrangement.

In 2018, the Fund purchased $142,466 [2017 – $878,026] from CMHC related to various 
2018 management fees and reimbursed CMHC for $34,668 [2017 – $9,576] in out-of-pocket 
costs. As at December 31, 2018, the Fund owed CMHC $86,846 [2017 – $253,480].

16. Financial instruments – risks and uncertainties
Market risk

Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact arising from changes in underlying market 
factors, including interest rate risk and credit risk.

2019

2020

2021

Total minimum lease payments 

Less amounts representing interest 

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments

$

23,211

9,343

5,450

38,004

2,626

35,378
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the impact of interest rate changes on the Fund’s cash flow and 
financial position. The risk arises from differences in the timing and amount of cash flows 
related to the Fund’s financial assets and liabilities.

The Fund has limited exposure to interest rate risk given its diversification strategy, its held-to-
maturity approach, and by purchasing fixed income securities using a laddered approach.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from counterparty’s inability to fulfill its contractual 
obligations. Credit risk includes the risk of default, and encompasses both the probability of 
loss and the probable size of the loss, net of recoveries and collateral, over time.

The Fund’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of its investments and various 
accounts receivable as well as Fund’s guarantee of loans under the Credit Enhancement 
Facility. It is management’s opinion that the Fund is not exposed to significant credit risks 
arising from these financial instruments. The Fund’s credit risk associated with investments 
is managed through the implementation of policies, which includes limits to the permitted 
investments and minimum credit ratings. These credit ratings are described in note 2. As at 
December 31, 2018, all investments held by the Fund were issued by the Government of 
Canada, a Province, or a national bank notwithstanding other investments were permitted by 
the policies at that date.

The Fund’s credit risk associated with guarantee of loans under the Credit Enhancement 
Facility is mitigated through annual reviews of First Nations communities’ financial strength 
and ongoing communication with community leaders to ensure that the First Nations 
communities continue to be in compliance with terms and conditions of Credit Enhancement 
Facility agreements.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund would have insufficient cash flows to meet its 
obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The Fund has a cash flow planning process in place to ensure sufficient resources meet 
current and projected cash requirements. Liquidity sources include cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable, investment income and the maturity of long-term investments.

17. Subsequent event
In January 2019, in accordance with the new Statement of Investment Policy [note 9], the 
Fund purchased corporate bonds totaling $99 million. These purchases were made by using 
proceeds from the sale of provincial bonds as well as the majority of banker’s acceptances 
under cash and cash equivalents [note 3] which had been accumulated for this purpose.

18. Comparative figures
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance 
comparability with the current year’s financial statements.
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Governance

The Fund was established through an Indenture of Trust 
on March 26, 2008 between CMHC and the Trustees. The 
governance, management and operations of the Fund 
are in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Fund’s enabling documents. These documents include an 
Indenture of Trust and a Funding Agreement with CMHC. 
The documents were designed to protect both the Fund’s 
federal funding and the parameters put in place for the 
administration of the funding over the long term. The Fund 
received a one-time contribution of $300 million from the 
Government of Canada. Interest earned from investing the 
contribution is used to pay for the Fund’s administration 
costs and its Capacity Development Program. The 
Fund is self-sustaining through the investment of the 
Government of Canada’s capital contribution and 
the reinvestment of a portion of its revenues.

The Funding Agreement states that there shall be no 
change in the Manager, nor any material changes in the 
terms and conditions of the Management Agreement, 
unless such changes have been approved in accordance 
with the Trust Indenture, which includes obtaining 
the approval of the CMHC Minister for the changes.  
Therefore, while the initial and extensions’ terms have 
expired, an implied management arrangement continues 
to be in place. Factually, the Fund has undertaken 
independently manager activities in certain areas while 
CMHC continues to provide direct services and oversight as 
manager of the Fund in other areas, including management 
of the investments of the Fund and authority over 
financial obligations. As such, the terms and conditions 
of the current arrangements are unclear and uncertain.
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Board of Trustees
Nine Trustees who have been drawn from the First Nations 
community, the Government of Canada community 
and the private-sector financial community provide 
oversight to the Fund. The Minister for CMHC appoints six 
Trustees and the Minister for ISC appoints three Trustees. 
Each of the Trustees joined the Board in March 2008. 
Trustee appointments are outstanding currently with all 
terms having reached their end. In October 2018, the 
Government of Canada published a Notice of Opportunity 
for appointments to the First Nations Market Housing 
Fund. The deadline for submission was December 1, 2018. 
The Notice of Opportunity is not intended to be the sole 
means of recruitment. Appointments to the Board of 
Trustees are anticipated in 2019.

The Trustees provide strategic direction and advice to the 
Executive Director. The Trustees are responsible for meeting 
the Fund’s objectives and ensuring prudent investment 
and safeguarding of assets, financial accountability and 
regular reporting of results. To support the Trustees in 
their responsibilities, five Board Committees have been 
established: Audit Committee; Investment Committee; 
Human Resources Committee; Operations Committee; and 
Governance Committee. Mandates and responsibilities 
have been set out for each committee. 

The Trustees meet face-to-face four times a year to 
review regular business and once per year for strategic 
planning purposes. The Trustees also conduct meetings 
via conference call, as required. Each year, their August 
face-to-face meeting includes one or several First Nations 
communities, while the remainder of the meetings are 
typically held at the Fund’s Ottawa office.

Information is provided below regarding Trustee and 
Committee meetings in 2018:

Actual expenses incurred during the year for Trustee 
governance are as follows:

Cash and Cash Equivalents ** 

Long-term Investments 

Deferred Contributions 

Investment Income 

Administration Expenses 

Capacity Development Expenses 

Funds available for 2019 Capacity Development *** 

Credit Enhancement Guarantee (Recovery) 

Capital Assets Purchased

2018 Plan ($)*

13,058,000 

337,892,000 

348,181,000 

9,879,000 

5,274,274 

4,000,000 

4,000,000 

(70,000) 

190,000

2018 Results ($)

41,075,543 

317,801,662 

358,788,766 

10,150,530 

3,794,985 

2,511,203 

$8,111,064 

78,466 

206,221

* The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2018 Business Plan.
** Cash and cash equivalents includes accrued interest receivable.  
*** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. 

Trustee 

Audit Committee 

Investment Committee 

Human Resources Committee 

Operations Committee 

Governance Committee

Number of
Members 

Meetings

6

3

2 

2 

2 

2

6 

4 

4 

2 

7 

7

Number of
Planned Meetings* 

Number of
Actual Meetings

Average Number of
Days per Meeting 

* Meetings are held face-to-face or via conference call. 

8 

4 

8 

5 

3

4

1.25 

0.25 

0.25 

0.25 

0.25

0.25

Honoraria

Travel

2018 ($)Expense

129,450 

161,144

Cash and Cash Equivalents ** 

Long-term Investments 

Deferred Contributions 

Investment Income 

Administration Expenses 

Capacity Development Expenses 

Funds available for 2019 Capacity Development *** 

Credit Enhancement Guarantee (Recovery) 

Capital Assets Purchased

2018 Plan ($)*

13,058,000 

337,892,000 

348,181,000 

9,879,000 

5,274,274 

4,000,000 

4,000,000 

(70,000) 

190,000

2018 Results ($)

41,075,543 

317,801,662 

358,788,766 

10,150,530 

3,794,985 

2,511,203 

$8,111,064 

78,466 

206,221

* The plan figures noted above are from the approved 2018 Business Plan.
** Cash and cash equivalents includes accrued interest receivable.  
*** Budgeted CD expenditures in any given year shall be approved by the Minister responsible for CMHC as part of the annual Business Plan. 

Trustee 

Audit Committee 

Investment Committee 

Human Resources Committee 

Operations Committee 

Governance Committee

Number of
Members 

Meetings

6

3

2 

2 

2 

2

6 

4 

4 

2 

7 

7

Number of
Planned Meetings* 

Number of
Actual Meetings

Average Number of
Days per Meeting 

* Meetings are held face-to-face or via conference call. 

8 

4 

8 

5 

3

4

1.25 

0.25 

0.25 

0.25 

0.25

0.25

Honoraria

Travel

2018 ($)Expense

129,450 

161,144
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John Beaucage
Committees: Investment (Chairperson); Operations 
(Chairperson), Governance (Chairperson)

John Beaucage has served as Chairperson of the 
Board of Trustees since his appointment in 2008.

Eyaabay (his traditional name) is a Pipe Carrier from the 
Bear Clan. A citizen of Wasauksing First Nation (Ontario), 
Mr. Beaucage was raised on the Shawanaga First Nation 
and has extended family in Nipissing First Nation.

Mr. Beaucage serves on a number of boards and has 
worked on developing green energy projects with several 
First Nations across the country. He has also worked in 
mediation on land disputes and was appointed as Special 
Advisor to the Minister of Children & Youth Services in 
Ontario. Mr. Beaucage played an instrumental role in the 
First Ministers’ Meeting which took place in Kelowna, B.C. 
in November of 2005. Leading up to the First Ministers’ 
Meeting, he served as the Co-chair for First Ministers’ 
Working Groups for both Housing and Relationships. In 
2004, Mr. Beaucage was elected as Grand Council Chief 
to serve the 42-member First Nations of the Anishinabek 
Nation. He was re-elected in 2006, by acclamation. 
Prior to 2004, Mr. Beaucage was the elected Chief of 
Wasauksing First Nation for four consecutive terms.

Mr. Beaucage is a graduate of the University of 
Western Ontario and he has done post-graduate 
work at the University of British Columbia. He was 
the recipient of an Honorary Doctor of Letters from 
Nipissing University in the 2009 Convocation. An 
economist by education, Mr. Beaucage worked 
for CMHC for over 15 years across Canada.

Board of Trustees

“We became Trustees of 
the Fund to further the 
notion of First Nations 
independence in all areas 
of governance. Housing is a 
basic foundation for a stable 
community; an area that we 
see as vitally important.”
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Ruth Williams
Committees: Investments; Governance; 
Operations; Human Resources (Chairperson)

Ruth Williams has served as Vice-Chairperson of the 
Board of Trustees since her appointment in 2008.

Ms. Williams was originally from High Bar and is a 
registered member of Tl’etinqox Government (B.C). She 
currently is the Business Advisor and Project Manager of 
the Pathways to Technology Project with All Nations Trust 
Company. Ms. Williams has over 27 years of experience 
in financial, risk management, program, and human 
resource management. She served as the Chief Executive 
Officer of All Nations Trust Company and was a founding 
member. Ms. Williams currently serves as President of the 
Kamloops Native Housing Society; sits on the Board of 
Governors for Thompson Rivers University; is a member 
of the National Indigenous Economic Board; and is a 
member of the Lower Nicola Indian Band Development 
Corporation. In 2010, Ms. Williams received an honorary 
Doctor of Law from Thompson River University.

“Believing in our communities 
and enabling them to 
fulfill their dreams has 
been my motivation.”
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Jim Prodger
Committees: Audit

Jim Prodger resides in Truro, Nova Scotia where he owns 
and operates Prodger and Associates Business Consultants. 
He is a Certified Aboriginal Financial Manager and has 
worked with the Millbrook First Nation as the Finance 
Manager as well as three other First Nations in an advisory 
role over the past 30 years. In 2018, Mr. Prodger was 
reappointed to the First Nations Financial Management 
Board and serves as Chairperson of the Audit Committee.

“It has been an interesting 
11 years and a steep 
learning curve that has 
been totally gratifying.”

Maurice Biron
Committees: Audit (Chairperson)

Maurice Biron has served as Chairperson of the 
Audit Committee since his appointment in 2008.

Mr. Biron is a member of the Garden River First Nation 
(Ontario) and President of Nativest Inc., a Toronto 
business consulting company involved in renewable 
energy projects. He has extensive finance and investment 
experience on programs/funds designed for sustainable 
finance to small and medium-sized businesses (SMEs) 
with the International Finance Corporation (member of 
World Bank). He has also worked in SME finance with 
the Federal Business Development Bank (now Business 
Development Bank of Canada), and the Toronto Dominion 
Bank which also included time spent in international 
corporate auditing. Mr. Biron is the Vice-Chairperson and a 
founding member of Two Rivers Community Development 
Centre, an Aboriginal Capital Corporation serving Six 
Nations and Mississaugas of the New Credit First Nation. 
Maurice holds a B.A., B.Comm. (hon), CPA, CGA.

“Joined to build an entity 
providing “market-based” 
housing believing it would be 
transformative and impactful 
on First Nations and enhance 
peoples’ lives favourably.  
Proud to have been 
involved and contributed 
to the Trust’s vision.”
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Gail Shawbonquit
Committees: Human Resources

Gail Shawbonquit is a member of the Atikameksheng 
Anishnawbek First Nation (formerly known as 
the Whitefish Lake First Nation) (Ontario). 

Ms. Shawbonquit is retired from Indian and Northern 
Affairs Canada, where she held various positions, including 
Manager of Capital Management, and Director for the 
Sudbury office. Following her service with the federal 
government, Ms. Shawbonquit was elected Chief of 
Atikameksheng Anishnawbek First Nation for two terms. 
She serves her community as Chair of the Land Committee. 

Ms. Shawbonquit holds a Bachelor of Arts 
in Native Studies and Political Science.

Eric Menicoche
Committees: Audit

Eric Menicoche is Dene from the Dehcho First Nation and 
a member of the Liidlii Kue First Nation in the Northwest 
Territories. He currently serves as a Councillor and a board 
member on the economic arm of the Liidlii Kue First 
Nation (Nogha Enterprises). Mr. Menicoche is a renewable 
harvester. He is President and Chief Executive Officer of Xah 
Ndah Resources Limited. Mr. Menicoche’s past experience 
includes working with the Government of the Northwest 
Territories as Regional Community Justice Coordinator 
— Dehcho; Wellness Coordinator for Pedhzeh Kue First 
Nation; Economic Development Coordinator for Liidlii 
Kue First Nation; member of the Mackenzie Valley Land 
and Water Board. Mr. Menicoche helped put in place the 
Dehcho Trust for the Dehcho First Nations. Mr. Menicoche 
has a B.A. from Trent University in Native Studies.

“Rewarding and memorable 
experience. Leaving a legacy 
that I am so proud of.”

“Fulfilling a vision to help 
our First Nations to build 
and own their own homes.”
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Committee Members

Audit Committee 
Maurice Biron, Chairperson 
Jim Prodger 
Eric Menicoche

Investment Committee 
John Beaucage, Chairperson 
Ruth Williams

Human Resources Committee 
Ruth Williams, Chairperson 
Gail Shawbonquit

Operations Committee 
John Beaucage, Chairperson 
Ruth Williams

Governance Committee 
John Beaucage, Chairperson 
Ruth Williams
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Fund Staff as of December 31, 2018
Deborah Taylor, Executive Director

Earl Commanda, Program Manager

Travis Seymour, Director, Finance and Administration

Ruth Deatcher, Senior Coordinator, Business 
Development & Credit Enhancement Implementation

Jason Haskett, Senior Program Officer

Nancy Pine, Senior Program Officer

Lucille Michaud, Senior Program Officer

Jan Edmison, Senior Business Analyst 

Carl Kanjilal, Senior Financial Analyst

Mike Britton, Senior Financial Analyst

Tae Kim, Senior Financial Analyst

Almaz Kifleyesus, Analyst

Tracy Tarnowski, Advisor Business Processes

Crystal Garrow, Administrator

Rebecca Deatcher, Junior Analyst

2018 Highlights – Fund Staff
The Fund wishes to extend congratulations to Earl 
Commanda, Program Manager, who graduated with 
honours from the Teachers and Trainers of Adults 
Program (3-year program) at Algonquin College in 
June 2018. Earl is pictured receiving congratulations 
from Algonquin’s President Cheryl Jensen on 
stage at the CTC Stadium in Ottawa, Ontario.

Indigenous students are given an additional scarf 
of four colours on top of the regular College 
colours. Earl is wearing his bone necklace from his 
Traditional dance regalia to show his ancestry.

The Fund staff participated in the Christmas Stocking 
Challenge by our property manager, Quadreal. Goods 
collected were donated to local charities.  Staff also 
participated in the I Love First Peoples Shoe Box 
Campaign, collecting 15 shoe boxes of toys, books, 
crafts, warm weather accessories and donations towards 
the transportation costs of bringing the boxes to 
children and teenagers in semi-remote communities.

The Trustees and staff wish to congratulate George 
Jenkins, Manager, Fund Administration and Gale 
Foster, Administrator, on their retirements in 2018. 
Joining within months of each other, both had 
worked at the Fund for over eight years. Their 
talents and sense of humour are missed!
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Our Lending Partners

National

British Columbia

Ontario/QuebecSaskatchewan
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How the Fund Works

The First Nations Market Housing Fund is a Self-Sustaining 
Independent and Not-for-Profit Trust with Two Clear Goals:

1. To facilitate the availability of private-sector 
financing for First Nations while helping to 
ensure an accessible supply of market-based 
housing in First Nations communities; and

2. To increase the capacity of First Nations seeking 
to expand or develop market-based housing.

The Fund builds on the successes of innovative 
communities. It is strictly optional. It does not replace any 
existing programs. Instead, the Fund works in tandem with 
existing programs to expand market housing on reserve.

What is Market-Based Housing?

Market-based housing is a broad term that encompasses 
private home ownership, rentals, and rent-to-own 
housing. Simply put, it means the owners and occupants 
pay for the cost of their housing either through rental 
or loan payments. Market-based housing gives First 
Nations a powerful means to invest in their communities, 
and it gives First Nation families the ability to invest 
in their futures by building personal wealth in their 
homes. It also contributes to the sustainability of existing 
programs by providing another option and allowing 
funds to be targeted to where they are needed most.

How Does the Fund Accomplish This?

The Fund qualifies a First Nation and provides partial 
financial backing to approved lenders for housing 
loan guarantees made by the First Nation to financial 
institutions. The First Nation then uses this backing to 
negotiate an arrangement with an approved lender 
or lenders so their members can apply directly to the 
lender(s) for financing. The financing will help build, 
buy or renovate a home on reserve or settlement lands 
where appropriate, to either own or rent. Due to the 
communal nature of the land, the First Nation needs 
to guarantee the housing loans of its members.

If a borrower defaults on an eligible loan, the lender 
will seek compensation from the First Nation. Should 
the First Nation not honour its obligation as guarantor, 
the lender will be able to turn to the Fund for 
compensation up to the amount of Credit Enhancement 
accumulated by the lender for loans made in the 
community. The Fund itself does not provide loans.

The Fund
Supports Arrangements Between 
First Nations and Lenders

The Fund has created an alternative form of security 
for housing loans made on reserve or settlement 
lands which will attract lenders and give First Nations 
leverage to negotiate more favourable interest rates, 
risk-sharing agreements, reduced program access fees, 
and administrative arrangements. In this way, people 
on reserve will have the same housing choices and 
opportunities as people in non-First Nation communities.

Respects the Communal Nature of Reserve Land

Off reserve, lenders take land as security in exchange for 
housing loans. On reserve, land is held by the Crown for 
the benefit of the First Nations’ members, therefore it is 
often considered communal. Because lenders cannot use 
communal land as security, this has made it more difficult 
for First Nations members to obtain housing loans in their 
communities. The backing provided by the First Nations 
Market Housing Fund, in conjunction with First Nation 
guarantees, attracts lenders by offsetting the security issue 
while preserving the communal nature of reserve land.

Increases the Capacity of First Nations

The Fund has established a Capacity Development 
Program which provides support for First Nation 
communities that meet or are close to meeting the 
Fund’s criteria for the Credit Enhancement but have 
areas which could be strengthened or improved. 
Funding for capacity development supports the provision 
of training, advice and coaching which focuses on 
improving market-based housing capacity for qualified 
First Nations and members of these communities.

Access Criteria
Access criteria are based on principles, not rules. 
The criteria are separated into three pillars:

• Financial Management;

• Good Governance; and

• Community Commitment (and Evidence of 
Demand for Market-Based Housing).

First Nations choose how best to satisfy each principle by 
demonstrating their own strengths in each of the pillars.
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Glossary of Terms

Lease Inducement
The negotiation of lease agreements sometimes includes 
incentives, or inducements, offered by the landlord 
which encourages the party leasing the property 
(lessee) to sign the lease. These incentives may include 
an up-front cash payment to the lessee, a rent-free 
period or a contribution to certain lessee costs such 
as leasehold improvements/office fit-up costs.

Effective Interest Rate Method
A method for systematically moving bond discounts 
or premiums from the statement of financial position 
to interest income over the life of the investment.

Deferral Method
Under the deferral method of accounting for contributions, 
restricted contributions related to expenses of future 
periods are deferred and recognized as revenue in the 
period in which the related expenses are incurred.

Fair Value
Fair value is the amount of consideration that would be 
agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties under normal conditions.
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List of Acronyms

FNMHF (“The Fund”)
First Nations Market Housing Fund

FNFMB
First Nations Financial Management Board

AFOA
Aboriginal Financial Officers Association

INAC
Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada

ISC
Indigenous Services Canada

CMHC
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation

AANDC
Aboriginal Affairs and Northern Development Canada

AFN
Assembly of First Nations

CANDO
Council for the Advancement of Native Development Officers
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Contact Us
First Nations Market Housing Fund
1420 Blair Place, Suite 510
Ottawa, Ontario
K1J 9L8

Reception/Main Number:
1-866-582-2808 or 613-740-1592
Fax: 613-740-9932

General Inquiries: info@fnmhf.ca
Website: www.fnmhf.ca


